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ARCHER & LOVELL,P.C.

ATTORNEYS AT LAW
102 LEAKE STREET
P. O. BOX 1024
CARTERSVILLE, GEORGIA 30120
David G. Archer (770) 386-1116
E. Keith Lovell
MEMORANDUM

TO: Mayor & City Council, City of Cartersville
CC: Randy Mannino, Director, Planning & Development
Julia Drake, Clerk
Suhail Chishti, Owner, Citgo/Easy Trip No. 3
FROM: Keith Lovell, City Attorney/Stacey Forristall, Paralegal
DATE: February 16, 2026
RE: Response to Appeal by Citgo/Easy Trip to ACB Order

This office serves as the City Attorney’s ofYice for the City of Cartersville and as such is serving as the
designee of the Director of the Planning and Development Department of the City of Cartersville regarding
this appeal of the Alcohol Control Board's Order in this case.

The following is the background information for this case and response to the appeal filed by the owner of
the Citgo/Easy Trip No. 3.

Citgo/Easy Trip No. 3 located at 1204 West Avenue, Cartersville, Georgia was one of the fourtcen
establishments in the City that sold alcohol to a minor during the Police Department’s November 2025
Alcohol Compliance Checks.

Statutory notice letters were prepared and the notice letter to Citgo/Easy Trip No. 3 was mailed to the
establishment on December 15, 2025, and hand delivered by Code Enforcement on December 16,
2025. (See Appcal Package — Agenda ltem.)

Said notice letter advised of the undcrage sale, provided notice of the Alcohol Control Board Hearing on
January 14, 2026, at 10:00 a.m., and further advised that a plea deal was being offered with said ofter
needing to be accepted by January 7, 2026. The plea offer was not returned by this establishment prior to
January 7, 2026.

A package for this establishment was prepared as an agenda item for the January 14, 2026, Alcohol Control
Board meeting. (See Appeal Package - Agenda Item). Hearings were held before the Alcohol Control
Board on January 14, 2026, at 10:00 a.m. and no representative from the establishment showed up to the
hearing. Evidence was presented and testimony provided and a decision on the case was made by the
Alcohol Control Board. The establishment was fined $2,000.00 and 6 years® probation. Said order was
hand delivered to the establishment on the afternoon of January 14, 2026. (See Appeal Package — Agenda
[tem.)

The owner of the establishment, Muhammad Suhail Chishti, visited with the City Clerk on January 15,
2026, requesting direction on how to rectify this situation. The City Clerk’s office contacted the City
Attorney’s Office for assistance. My paralegal, Stacey Forristall spoke with the owner of the establishment
and based upon said conversation, sent him an email with the City's Code of Ordinances related to alcohol
violations and parameters for filing his appeal. (See Exhibit | attached to this Response - Email Chain
between Forristall and Chishti.)



Memo to Mayor & City Council

Date: February 16, 2026

Re: Response to Appeal by Citgo/Easy Trip
Page 2

On January 22, 2026, an appeal to the Alcohol Control Board Order was filed by Suhail Chishti, owner of
the establishment. (See Appeal Package — Agenda Item.)

On February 2, 2026, the employee for the establishment plead Nolo Contendere in the Cartersville
Municipal Court to the charge of selling alcohol to a minor and was fined and placed on probation. (See
Exhibit 2 attached to this Response — disposition of Shakiya Nicole Pearson.)

It is noted for the Mayor and City Council that the owner of this establishment, Suhail Chishti, also owns
another convenience store in the City, Easy Trip No. 2, located at 165 Cassville Road. Said establishment
located at 165 Cassville Road had a charge of underage sales of alcohol to a minor in 2021. Said 2021 case
is similar in nature, notice letter sent with plea offer, plea not returned, no one showed for the ACB hearing,
order entered and then appeal of order filed. (See Exhibit 3 attached to this Response - copy of said 2021
case.)

It is requested that the Mayor and City Council at a minimum uphold the ruling of the Alcohol Control
Board as this establishment was provided with notice of the hearing before the Alcohol Control Board
hearing and failed to act on the plea offer and failed to appear for said hearing. And. it appears that this
owner should be somewhat familiar with the process of Alcohol Control Board hearings and appeals to the
Mayor and Council given the 2021 case of selling alcohol to minors from a sister location in the City of
Cartersville.
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Stacey Forristall

T T I e e e T U T e e (I M T ST St S
From: Suhail Chishti <suhailchishti@gmail.com>
Sent: Thursday, January 22, 2026 10:58 AM
To: Stacey Forristall
Subject: Re: City of Cartersville v. Easy Trip No. 3 - Citgo - 1204 West Avenue (ACB Case
2026-009)

Appeal filed with Samantha fincher. Also mentioned feb19 meeting. Going to drop off check to the city for
escrow
Sent from my iPhone

OnJan 22, 2026, at 9:15 AM, Stacey Forristall <sforristall@archerlovell.com> wrote:

Yes. Do putin your appeal you are out of town for the February 5 council meeting and
request to have your appeal heard at the February 19, 2026 council meeting.

Please note my emaill address has hanoed Please update vour records accordingly
| : !

~._';‘,_|;:-.,!.:!:,J,. 'I'\'i.i‘-!ill\l}l'll
Thank you.

Stacey L. Forristall, Paralegal

Archer & Lovell, PC

Regular Mailing Address: PO Box 1024, Cartersville, GA 30120
Deliveries/Physical Address: 102 Leake Street, Cartersville, GA 30120
Phone: Office: 770-386-1116/ Direct/Cell: (770) 880-9690

Email: sforristalli@ archerlovell.com

NOTE: This email (including attachments) may be attorney/client privileged and is confidential
information covered by the Electronic Communications Privacy Act 18 U.S.C. Sections 2510-2521 and any
other applicable law and is intended only for the use of the individual or entity named herein. If the reader
of this message is not the intended recipient, or the employee or agent responsible for delivering it to the
intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any retention, dissemination, distribution or copying of the
communication is strictly prohibited. Although this email and any attachments are believed to be free of
any virus or other defect that might affect any computer system into which it is received and opened, it is
the responsibility of the recipient to ensure that it is virus free.

From: Suhail Chishti <suhailchishti@gmail.com>

Sent: Thursday, January 22, 2026 8:54 AM

To: Stacey Forristall <sforristall@ArcherLovell.com>

Subject: Re: City of Cartersville v. Easy Trip No. 3 - Citgo - 1204 West Avenue (ACB Case 2026-009)

Good morning Stacy,
Can | go ahead and file appeal today?
Please advise



Thank you

OnJan 15, 2026, at 3:06 PM, Stacey Forristall <sfornistall@archerlovell.com>
wrote:

Muhammad,

Pursuant to our conversation today, attached are the relevant City
Ordinances for alcohol violations. Sec. 4-209 (e)(2) reads that “...if an
appealis filed, any monetary penalty imposed must be paid to the director of
planning and development and said funds shall be held in escrow until final
disposition of said appeal. If appellant prevails in the appeal, said funds
shall be returned.”

Please follow the instructions in the order for filing of the appeal. You have
until January 28, 2026, to file your appeal. Pursuant to our conversation, you
advised you will be out of town on February 5, 2026, the date of the next City
Council Meeting. If you file your appeal January 20, 2026, through January
28, 2028 (3 pm) the appeal will fall within the time frame listed in the City
Ordinance “not less than 10 or more than 30 days from the date of the
appeal.” The appeal would then be able to be scheduled for the February 19,
2026, City Council Agenda. [f you file your appeal prior to January 20, 2026,
we will have to obtain permission from the Mayor and City Manager to have
the appeal hearing outside the time frame specified in the City Ordinance.

If you have any questions, please let me know.

Please note my email address has chaneed. Please update vour records accordingly

i

to sforristalll@ archerlovell.com

Thank you.

Stacey L. Forristall, Paralegal

Archer & Lovell, PC

Regular Mailing Address: PO Box 1024, Cartersville, GA 30120
Deliveries/Physical Address: 102 Leake Street, Cartersville, GA 30120
Phone: Office: 770-386-1116 / Direct/Cell: (770) 880-9690

Email: sforristallic@archerlovell.com

NOTE: This email (including attachments) may be attorney/client privileged and is
confidential information covered by the Electronic Communications Privacy Act 18 U.S.C.
Sections 2510-2521 and any other applicable law and is intended only for the use of the
individual or entity named herein. If the reader of this message is not the intended
recipient, or the employee or agent responsible for delivering it to the intended recipient,
you are hereby notified that any retention, dissemination, distribution or copying of the
communication is strictly prohibited. Although this email and any attachments are

2



believed to be free of any virus or other defect that might affect any computer system into
which it is received and opened. it is the responsibility of the recipient to ensure that it is

virus free.

<City Ordinances for Alcohol Violations.docx>



Sec. 4-13. Licensees to keep copy of article on-premises; employees to be familiar with terms;
responsibility of licensee for violations.

Each pouring licensee shall keep a copy of this article in the licensed premises and shall
instruct any person working there with respect to the terms hereof and each licensee, the
licensee's agents and employees selling, pouring and serving distilled spirits shall at all times be
familiar with the terms hereof. The licensee shall be responsible for any acts of agents or
employees which are in violation of this article or of the laws of the state or the rules and
regulations of the state revenue commissioner.

(Ord. No. 81-05, § |, 10-6-05)

Sec. 4-21. Purchase by or sales to underaged persons.

(a) No license holder and/or employee of a package outlet, pouring outlet, or other licensed
establishment shall knowingly furnish, sell or offer for sale any malt beverages, wine or
distilled spirits to a person under twenty-one (21) years of age. This prohibition shall not
apply with respect to the sale of any malt beverages, wine or distilled spirits to a person
when such person has furnished proper identification showing that the person to whom
the malt beverages, wine and distilled spirits are being sold is twenty-one (21) years of age
or older. In this subsection, "proper identification” means any document issued by a
governmental agency containing a description of the person, such person's photograph or
both, and giving such person's date of birth, including, but not limited to, a passport,
military identification card, driver's license, or identification card authorized under an act
to require the state department of public safety to issue identification cards to
handicapped persons who do not have a motor vehicle driver's license. "Proper
identification" does not include a birth certificate.

(b) Subsection (a) shall not apply to the following:

(1) Whenever a malt beverage, wine or distilled spirits is purchased for medical purposes
pursuant to a prescription of a physician duly authorized to practice medicine in the
state;

(2) Whenever malt beverages or wine are purchased for consumption at a religious
ceremony.

(c) The licensee shall post in the most conspicuous place in his establishment a sign for each
license printed in letters at least four (4) inches high containing the following language for
each license issued.

"SALE OF MALT BEVERAGES, WINE OR DISTILLED SPIRITS TO MINORS STRICTLY PROHIBITED."

(d) It shall be unlawful for any minor to falsely misrepresent his age in any manner
whatsoever. It shall be unlawful for any minor to drink, or possess any alcoholic beverages,

Created: 2024-82-13 13:18:53 [EST]
(Supp. No. 28)
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except as stated in subsection (a) of this section, or except as provided in 0.C.G.A. § 3-3-

23,

(e) The municipal court, in accordance with O.C.G.A. § 36-32-10, is granted jurisdiction to try
and dispose of a first offense violation of 0.C.G.A. § 3-3-23, relating to furnishing alcoholic
beverages to, and purchase and possession of alcoholic beverages by, a person under
twenty-one (21) years of age, if the offense occurred within the corporate limits of the city.
0.C.G.A. § 36-32-10is incorporated herein by reference.

(Ord. No. 81-05, § 1, 10-6-05)

Sec. 4-202. Powers and duties.

The alcohol control board is hereby vested with the following duties and powers:

(1) Initial applications. To screen, verify, investigate and review all initial applications for
licenses for the sale of distilled spirits, wine, and/or malt beverages, at wholesale and
retail, by the package for off-premises consumption and by the drink for on-premises
consumption.

a.

To approve, deny, and/or table the issuance or denial of licenses with or without
conditions for the sale of distilled spirits, wine and malt beverages for on-
premises consumption and for the sale of distilled spirits, wine, and/or malt
beverages for off-premises consumption.

To approve, deny and/or table the issuance or denial of licenses with or without
conditions to sell distilled spirits, wine, and/or malt beverages, by the package at
wholesale or retail for off-premises consumption.

(2) Renewals. To investigate and hear reports and charges constituting probable cause
not to renew license for the sale of distilled spirits, wine, and/or malt beverages, at
wholesale or retail, by the package, for off-premises consumption and by the drink for
on-premises consumption.

d.

To approve, deny, and/or table the issuance or denial of renewals of licenses
with or without conditions for the sale of distilled spirits, wine, and/or malt
beverages by the drink for on-premises consumption.

To approve, deny, and/or table the issuance or denial of licenses with or without
conditions to sell distilled spirits, wine, and/or malt beverages by the package at
wholesale or retail for off-premises consumption.

(3) Suspension, fine, revocation; probation. To investigate and hear reports and charges
constituting probable cause to suspend, fine, place on probation, place conditions or
revoke the licenses for the sale of distilled spirits, wine, and/or malt beverages, at
wholesale or retail, by the package and by the drink.

(Supp. No. 28)

Created: 2824-82-13 13:18:53 [EST]

Page 2 of 8



a. Tosuspend, revoke, fine, place conditions and/or place on probation licenses for
the sale of distilled spirits, wine, and/or malt beverages by the drink for on-
premises consumption.

b. To suspend, revoke, fine, place conditions and/or place on probation licenses for
the sale of distilled spirits, wine, and/or malt beverages by the package at
wholesale or retail, for off-premises consumption.

(4) Appeals. To hear appeals on the seizure of a license by the chief of police, the
assistant chief of police, a duly authorized officer or the code enforcement officer
under section 4-203 and to affirm, reverse, modify with or without conditions upon
the actions of the suspending officer.

(5) Entertainment. To receive reports on, to investigate and to approve or disapprove
entertainment at establishments licensed to sell alcoholic beverages by the drink, all
as provided in this chapter, and to take or recommend such action as is appropriate in
the case of such disapproval.

(6) Employees. To receive reports on, to investigate and to approve or disapprove
employees of retail outlets for the sale of alcoholic beverages by the package or the
drink, all as provided in this chapter and to take such action as is appropriate in the
case of such disapproval.

(7) Ordinances and policies. To recommend to the city council modifications to the
ordinances and policies of the city pertaining to the regulation, control and taxing of
distilled spirits, wine, and/or malt beverages.

(8) Complaints, etc. To hear complaints, suggestions and recommendations from the city
manager, the city council, police department, state officials, alcoholic beverage
dealers and the public at large as to the operating of distilled spirits, wine, and/or
malt beverages outlets within the city.

(9) Rules and regulations. To promulgate rules and regulations governing procedures
before it.

(10) Meetings. The alcohol control board shall hold meetings pursuant to the timelines
contained herein for hearings and otherwise as it determines in its sole discretion.

(Ord. No. 81-05, § |, 10-6-05; Ord. No. 08-06, § 1, 3-2-06; Ord. No. 08-10, § 12, 3-18-10)

Sec. 4-203. Suspension and revocation—Generally.

(a) Summary action. There shall be no summary seizure of licenses under this chapter, unless
there exists in the city a state of emergency duly declared; after any such seizure, a hearing
shall be held as soon as practicable, except as authorized under section 4-32 of this
chapter.

Created: 2824-82-13 13:18:55 [EST]
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(b) Action by alcohol control board. The alcohol control board shall have full power and
authority to revoke, refuse to renew, suspend, fine, or place on probation with or without
conditions any license to sell distilled spirits, wine, and/or malt beverages for a violation of
this Code, or of the state or federal laws, or when the continued operation of the licensed
business is detrimental to the health, safety or welfare of the public.

(c) Emergency suspension. The city manager is authorized to suspend the sale of alcoholic
beverages under any license for any emergency situation when it deems such suspension
necessary for the protection of the public health, safety, or welfare. Such suspension may
be made effective immediately and shall remain in force until the mayor and city council
determine that the emergency is over or until the next meeting of the city council, at
which time the suspension shall cease unless it is extended by mayor and city council.

(Ord. No. 81-05, § I, 10-6-05; Ord. No. 08-10, § 13, 3-18-10)

Sec. 4-209. Action by alcohol control board.

(a) The director of planning and development or his/her designee, when assured that all
requirements have been complied with, shall refer the application, together with any
objections filed, to the alcohol control board. The alcohol control board shall, after
investigation of the applicant and the proposed location, direct the secretary to issue or
refuse with or without conditions the license for which application is made, upon payment
of the appropriate fee.

(b) The alcohol control board shall be authorized to suspend, fine, place on probation, or
revoke with or without conditions an alcoholic beverage license under the conditions set
forth in this section. However, except as provided for in this chapter, no revocation,
probation, fine or suspension shall be imposed without first providing the licensee with
notice of his rights to appeal as more specifically provided in subsections (e)(2) and (4).
Sufficient grounds for the suspension, probation, fine or revocation, with or without
conditions of a license include, but are not limited to, the following:

(1) A licensee has failed to open for business within ninety (90) days after approval of the
license.

(2) A licensee has ceased to operate the business for a period of three (3) consecutive
months.

(3) A licensee, or such licensee's employee or agent, has sold alcoholic beverages during
a period of suspension.

(4) A licensee gave false or misleading information in the original application or renewal
process.

(5) A licensee has failed to pay any fee, license fee, tax, fine or other amount of money
due to the city under this chapter or any other city licensing ordinance.

Created: 2024-82-13 13:18:55 [EST)
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(c)

(6) A licensee has failed to maintain any and all of the general qualifications applicable to
the initial issuance of a license as set forth in this article.

(7) Alicensee, or such licensee's employee or agent, has served or sold any alcoholic
beverage to any person that the licensee or the licensee's employee or agent, knew
or should have known to be in a state of intoxication.

(8) Alicensee, or such licensee's employee or agent, has served or sold any alcoholic
beverage to any person without requiring proof of age identification as required in

this chapter.

(9) A licensee or employee or agent thereof has violated any provision of Chapter 4,
Alcoholic Beverages, Article |, Division 2, Regulation of Establishments and Division 3,
Taxes.

(10) For any provision of Chapter 4 which specifically states the license may be suspended
or revoked for a violation.

(11) For any violation of O.C.G.A. § 3-3-21.

(12) For multiple violations of any requirement or multiple requirements of Chapter 4,
during a two-year period.

Subject to the notice, hearing and appeal rights of a licensee as provided in this chapter, if
the alcohol control board determines that a violation has occurred and been adjudicated
guilty or the licensee has pled guilty or no contest it is authorized to levy the following
fines and penalties. The board has the right to impose additional penalties or waive any of
the penalties imposed based upon the facts of the incident as presented to them.

For violations within a three-year period involving the same license, owners or location the

following recommended guidelines are hereby adopted.

Offense Fine Probation Suspension/Revocation

First Up to $1,000.00 3 years None

Second Up to $1,000.00 3 years 30 days suspension

Third Up to $1,000.00 3 years Revocation; no
reapplication for one
year

(d) Any of the violations indicated in subsection (b) above may in addition be prosecuted in

the Municipal Court of the City of Cartersville. If the violator is found guilty, enters a plea
of guilty or enters a plea of no contest, the penalty for any violation is subject to a fine of
up to one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) per day, per violation and/or up to six (6) months in
jail per day, per violation. Furthermore, all other violations of this chapter shall be
prosecuted in the Municipal Court of the City of Cartersville and are subject to a fine of up
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to one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) per day per violation and/or up to six (6) months in jail
per violation.

(e) (1) Prior to imposing any sanction authorized by this section, the director of planning and
development, his/her designee shall provide written notice to the licensee specifying the
licensee's alleged violations of this chapter and the date, time and place of the hearing
to be held before the alcohol control board to determine if the violations have occurred.
The date of the hearing shall be not less than five (5) nor more than thirty (30) days after
the date of the written notice. Hearings shall be conducted consistent with rules applied
in administrative proceedings which shall ensure that each party may present evidence,
cross-examine witnesses, and be represented by legal counsel, All testimony shall be
sworn. The city shall have the responsibility to present evidence sufficient to carry the
burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence. Following the hearing, the alcohol
control board shall prepare a written order to include findings, conclusions and sanction,
if any. A copy of the order shall be forwarded by certified mail to the licensee the same
date it is filed in the office of planning and development and/or hand delivery to the
licensee or their establishment.

(2) The order issued by the alcohol control board in accordance with the procedures
outlined in subsection (e)(1) of this section shall be stayed for a period of fourteen
(14) days after the issuance of the order. During this fourteen-day period, the licensee
shall have the right to file an appeal to the mayor and city council. If the licensee does
not file a timely appeal, the order shall be final. If an appeal is filed, any monetary
penalty imposed must be paid to the director of planning and development and said
funds shall be held in escrow until final disposition of said appeal. If the appellant
prevails in the appeal, said funds shall be returned.

(3) Additionally, if an applicant is denied a license, said applicant shall have the right to
appeal same to the mayor and city council within fourteen (14) days of the date of
denial.

(4) The notice of appeal to the mayor and city council shall be in writing and
accompanied by a memorandum or other writing setting out fully the grounds for
such appeal and all arguments in support thereof. The notice of appeal must be filed
in writing at the office of planning and development. The grounds for the appeal shall
be limited to issues that were addressed in the hearing. Upon receipt of a notice of
appeal, the city manager shall submit the entire record of the case to the mayor and
city council and the planning and development director or his/her designee may also
submit a memorandum in response to the memorandum filed by the licensee. The
planning and development director or his/her designee shall place the appeal on the
agenda of the next regular council meeting occurring not less than ten (10) or more
than thirty (30) days after receipt of the appeal, unless the parties stipulate to
another date. The appellant shall have the right to be represented by legal counsel. At
the hearing, the mayor and city council will receive oral arguments on the written
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memoranda and the evidence in the record. The right to offer oral argument may be
waived. No additional evidence or arguments shall be permitted at the council
meeting, and the council shall base its decision on the memoranda, oral arguments, if
any, and other evidence in the record. Following the appeal hearing, the council may
sustain, overrule or modify the order. In lieu of suspension or revocation, the mayor
and city council may impose a fine upon any licensee, such fine as set forth in this
chapter, for each violation occurring on the licensed premises. The mayor and city
council shall also have the option to remand the matter to the alcohol control board
for a de novo hearing or for the taking of additional evidence on specific points. The
mayor and city council have thirty (30) days from the date of the hearing to render a
decision in this matter. If the city council does not refer the matter back to the alcohol
control board the decision of the mayor and city council shall be final and the
appellant shall have the right to seek a writ of certiorari to the superior court of the
county within thirty (30) days of the final action of the mayor and city council. The
final action of the city council shall be reduced to a written order signed by the
mayor. The original of the mayor's order shall be filed in the record of the case, and a
copy of the order shall be included in the minutes of the mayor and city council
meeting. It shall be the responsibility of the city clerk to provide a copy of the order to
the appellant.

(f) The penalties for establishments and license holders may be mitigated if such
establishments are found to have maintained an effective compliance program. Factors to
be considered are:

(1) Whether and to what extent the establishment requires its servers to attend alcohol
ordinance compliance seminars.

(2) Whether the establishment conducts its own "secret shopper" or internal "sting"
operations.

(3) Whether the establishment has a written policy dealing with the problems of minors
attempting to obtain alcohol at such establishment.

(4) Whether the establishment has appropriate signs and other displays such as "We ID"
or "If you're a minor, the soft drinks are this way".

(5) The degree to which the establishment has procedures in place to monitor its servers
for compliance with the ordinance.

(6) Whether the establishment makes available a copy of the ordinance to its servers.

(7) Extent to which the establishment has met the other requirements of the ordinance.

(8) Other evidence demonstrating the establishment's compliance with the ordinance
and prevention of underage drinking in the establishment and the community at
large.

Created: 2824-@2-13 13:18:55 [EST]
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(Ord. No. 81-05, § 1, 10-6-05; Ord. No. 45-08, § |, 11-6-08; Ord. No. 51-08, § 1, 12-4-08; Ord. No.
08-10, § 17, 3-18-10; Ord. No. 36-18, § 1, 12-6-18)
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Shakiya Nicole Pearson

Case # - 2025005925
Case # 2025008925 Status Probation Offense Date 1117128 CourtDate [ 020272026 |
Offender (i 1, e ) Vehicle Agency
Last/FirstyMid Pearson, Shakiya Nicole Tag # Agency Code orp
Address 370 Old Mill Road Apt 102 Model Year 0 Badge # [ 1128
City /ST /Zip Cartersville GA 30120 Vehicle Make Officer MILLER, S
Date of Birth 2003 Sex F Race Biack Model Location 1204 WEST AVENUE
Accident Fataliy N Injury [N] Passenger Veh N coL rﬁ ! CommVeh N ComViol N HazMat N

2 Lane Road N School Zone N

Attomey Bondsman

Violation(s)

Citation Actual Speed Amount of Balance
Sub Number Ga Code Offense MA Speed Limit Fine Due
A 2025-00028013 421 UNDERAGE ALCOHOL PURCHASE/SALES Y 000 0 1.420,00 1,420.00
Balance Remaining 1,420.00
Disposition
Citation T . Dispositon  Adjudged Fine Jail Prob Prob (&

Sub Numnber Plea Verdict/Disposition Date Mih Days Mth Days Type Hours

A 2025-00028013  Nolo Contendre Probation - Nolo 02/0226 1,420.00 0 0 i1 0 ]
Failure to Appear Dates

Sub  Charge CL Sent 912 Letter FTASent 912 Pad BW Issued BW Served BW Recalled

A UNDERAGEALCOHOL PURCHASE/SALES

Comments

PROBATION MAY TERMINATE UPON PAYMENT IN FULL

Court Clerk

Printed On 2/13/2026

I HERERY CERTIFY THAT THE ABOVE AND
POREGOING PAGE IS A TRUE AND CORRECT

Cartersville Municipal Court
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BEFORE THE MAYOR & CITY COUNCIL
CITY OF CARTERSVILLE

PARTIES TO APPEAL:
CITY OF CARTERSVILLE, GEORGIA
l.icensor,
V.
MUHAMMAD SUHAIL CHISHTIL.

L.icensee,

Establishment: Short Trip-Easy Trip No. 2

Address: 165 Cassville Road
Cartersville, GA

Retail Package: Beer, Wine

Alcohol License Certificate Number:
L1.202002532

APPEAL OF:

CARTERSVILLE ALCOHOL
CONTROL BOARD ORDER OF
3/10/2021

ACB HEARING NO: 21-015
HEARING DATE: 3/10/2021

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

DECISION OF MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL

On April 14,2021, the Licensee of the establishment known as Short Trip-Easy Trip 2 appeared

before the Mayor and City Council to appeal the March 10, 2021 Order issued by the Cartersville

Alcohol Control Board. After hearing the appeal, and consideration by the Mayor and City Council,

and upon a motion, the March 10, 2021 Order of the Alcohol Control Board is upheld with the

$1.000.00 fine and 3 years' probation. The payment for the fine in the amount of $1,000,00 fine is due

and payable by 3:00 p.m. on Friday, April 23. 2021. The Probation period for the establishment shall

run from March 135, 2021 through and including March 15, 2024.

BE IT AND IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED, as of lhl:./H)' day of \prll 2( )"j

ATTEST: \)\ )\ C | /i ,K W_',,_

TULIADRAKE. CITY CLERK

MAIfIII W 1. SARTINL MAYOR

s/



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This is to certify | have this day caused to be served the above Licensee via regular mail, return

receipt requested, to the address provided by the Licensee at the Appeal Hearing, this 16™ day of April,

2021.
o E aith Lved!
E. Keith Lovell, Assistant City Attorney
City of Cartersville

P. 0. Box 1024

Cartersville, Georgia 30120
(770) 386-1116



ARCHER & LOVELL, P.C.

ATTORNEYS AT LAW
102 LEAKE STREET
P O BOX 1024
CARTERSVILLE, GEORGIA 30120
David G. Archer Phone. (770) 386-11158
E. Keith Lovell Fax: (770) 382-7484

March 26. 2021

Mr. Muhammad Suhail Chishti VIA EMALL: suhailchishin g gmail com
Short Tl‘ip- Fasy ]I'lp No. 2 VIA CERTIFIED MANL/RETURN RECEIPT AND
165 Cassville Iiﬂ'ld VIA HAND DELIVERY TO ESTABLISHMENT

Cartersville. GA 30120

IN RL: NOTICE OF HEARING ON APPEAL - APRIL 15, 2021, 7:00 P.M.
Alcohol License Certificate Number: 1.1.202002532
License Type: Retail Package: Beer, Wine
License Holder: Muhammad Suhail Chishu
Establishment: Short Trip-Easy Trip No. 2, 165 Cassville Rd, Cartersville, GA

Dear Mr. Chishti:

The City of Cartersville received your appeal to the Order issued by the Alcohol Control
Board for the alcohol licensee listed above. You are hereby notified that the Mayor and City
Council of the City of Cartersville, Georgia, will hear said appeal at 7:00 pm on April 15,
2021, at the City Council Chambers, Third Floor, City Hall, 10 North Public Square,
Cartersville, Georgia 30120,

Below is a brief synopsis of the case and your appeal:

Short Trip’Easy Trip2 (first time offender).  The licensee holder/owner filed an appeal of
the decision of the ACB March 10, 2021 Order. This licensee failed to return the Consent
Order delivered to it and failed to appear for the ACB hearing. The Board entered an order
finding the licensee Guilty, imposing a $1,000.00 fine and 3 years’ probation. This appeal
just asks for reconsideration. As the establishment had two violations, the reccommended
penalties were fines of up to $1,000.00 on each violation, plus, three (3) years™ probation
on ecach violation.

And, below is City of Cartersville Ordinance, Sec. 4-209(e)(4). as it relates to appeals and

the process.

(4) The notice of appeal to the mayor and city council shall be in writing and accompanied
by a memorandum or other writing setting out fully the grounds for such appeal and all
arguments in support thereof. The notice of appeal must be filed in writing at the office
of planning and development. The grounds for the appeal shall be limited to issues that
were addressed in the hearing. Upon receipt of a notice of appeal, the city manager shall
submit the entire record of the case to the mayor and city council and the planning and
development director or his/her designee may also submit a memorandum in response to
the memorandum filed by the licensee. The planning and development director or his‘her
designee shall place the appeal on the agenda of the next regular council meeting
occurring not less than ten (10) or more than thirty (30) days after receipt of the appeal,
unless the parties stipulate to another date. The appellant shall have the right to be
represented by legal counsel. At the hearing, the mayor and city council will receive oral



Muhammad Suhail Chishti

March 26, 2021

Notice of Appeal Hearing — Mayor & City Council
Establishment: Short Trip-Easy Trip No. 2

Page 2

arguments on the written memoranda and the evidence in the record. The right to offer
oral argument may be waived. No additional evidence or arguments shall be permitted at
the council meeting, and the council shall base its decision on the memoranda, oral
arguments, if any, and other evidence in the record. Following the appeal hearing. the
council may sustain, overrule or modify the order. In lieu of suspension or revocation, the
mayor and city council may impose a fine upon any licensee, such fine as set forth in this
chapter. for each violation occurring on the licensed premises. The mayor and city council
shall also have the option to remand the matter to the alcohol control board for a de novo
hearing or for the taking of additional evidence on specific points. The mayor and city
council have thirty (30) days from the date of the hearing to render a decision in this
matter. If the city council does not refer the matter back to the alcohol control board the
decision of the mayor and city council shall be final and the appellant shall have the right
to seck a writ of certiorari to the superior court of the county within thirty (30) days of
the final action of the mayor and city council. The final action of the city council shall be
reduced to a written order signed by the mayor. The original of the mayor's order shall be
filed in the record of the case, and a copy of the order shall be included in the minutes of
the mayor and city council meeting. It shall be the responsibility of the city clerk to
provide a copy of the order to the appellant.

Very truly yours,

ARCHER & LOVELL, P.C,
£ /ﬁ’/‘d‘fz{ Lovell

k. Keith Lovell
Assistant Attorney for the City of Cartersville

EKL/sIf

CCl

City Manager, City of Cartersville

Planning and Development Director, City of Cartersville
Chief of Police. City of Cartersville

City Clerk, City of Cartersville
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This letter was served upon l’\ A o (f\ N at 165 Cassville Road.

Cartersville, GA on the £¢ day of ‘/_fz{._'a ~/y . 2021 by the undersigned Police
(‘)I'ﬁccr/,(lﬁ.)'(jc Enforcement Officer and service is hereby agknowledged.
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FFICER/CODE ENFORCEMENT OFFICER




3/24/2021

Ny Gmail

: [External]Appeal (short trip 165 cassville road)

yoalji?

Samantha Fincher <sfincher@cityofcartersville.org>

me

Gmail - FW: [External]Appeal (short trip 165 cassville road)

To: Stacey Foristall <stacey4stall11@gmail.com=>, Keith Lovell <klovell@cityofcartersville.org>

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/07ik=feec2e59ed&view=ptisearch=all&permthid=thread-%3A 1695128060327 1992828&simpl=msg-f%3A16951280603...

From: Suhail Chishti <suhailchishti@gmail.com>

Sent: Wednesday, March 24, 2021 10:16 AM

To: Samantha Fincher <sfincher@cityofcartersville.org>
Subject: [External]Appeal (short trip 165 cassville road)

To,
The Mayor and The Council,
City of Cartersville,

Dear Sir/Madam,

This letter is to appeal the judgment against me, Muhammad Chishti, the owner and operator of Short
trip/ Easy trip no.2 Inc., at 165 Casseville Road in Cartersville. Back in January 27th, 2021; an employee,
Luwanda, sold an alcohol product to a minor. She has been working with me for quite a time now and fully
understands the laws, however, she was training an employee at that time and got distracted. While we
take this very seriously, give strict training to our employees and understand it is not at all acceptable, |
would like you to look into this matter. The alcohol product was sold by the employee and she will face the
charges and appear in court. However, this being a first violation, my business was also given a probation
of 3 years and $1000.00 in fine. | have been serving this community for the past six years under the
guidelines and laws of city and state and fully understand the responsibilities under my role. | request you to
please reconsider the judgement against my store. | would highly appreciate that.

Thank you,
Muhammad Chishti

Stacey Forristall <staceydstall11@gmail.com>

Wed, Mar 24, 2021 at 11:34 AM

12



3/24/2021 Gmalil - FW: [External]Appeal (short trip 165 cassville road)
Disclaimer
The information contained in this communication from the sender is confidential. It is intended solely far use by the recipient and
others authorized to receive it. If you are not the recipient, you are hereby notified that any disclosure, copying, distribution ar
taking action in relation of the contents of this information is strictly prohibited and may be unlawful.

This email has been scanned for viruses and malware, and may have been automatically archived by Mimecast Ltd, an
innovator in Software as a Service (SaaS) for business. Providing a safer and more useful place for your human generated
data. Specializing in; Security, archiving and compliance. To find out more Click Here.

https://mail google.com/mall/u/0?ik=feec2e59ed&view=pt&search=all&permthid=thread-f%3A1695128060327199282&simpl=msg-%3A16951280603...  2/2



BEFORE THE ALCOHOL CONTROL BOARD
CITY OF CARTERSVILLE

CARTERSVILLE ALCOHOL
CONTROL BOARD
VIOLATION HEARING NO; 21-015

CITY OF CARTERSVILLE, GEORGIA
l.icensor,
v, HEARING DATE: 3/10.2021
MUHAMMAD SUHAIL CHISHTI,
[.icensee.

Establishment: Short Trip-Easy Trip Ne. 2

Address: 165 Cassville Road
Cartersville, GA

Retail Package: Beer, Wine

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
Alcohol License Certificate Number: ;
1.1.202002532 )

RETURN OF SERVICE OF ALCOHOL CONTROL BOARD ORDER

 FE RN RN R RN R RN R RN R R RN NN ENRNR RN RN RN NN RREREERRNRENRNERNEERNESERESENENEREREENRESEENEERNEEENEHRJIIEE NN

The attached Order from the Alcohol Control Board, (m of Cartersville, was served upon

LG(H‘Q VV\O_S(L ) _at Short Trip-Easy Trip No. 2. 165 Cassville Road. Cartersville,
GA onthe /2 day of MAQCL . . 2021 by the unf.Iursigncd Police Officer/Code Enforcement
Officer and service is hereby acknowledged.

Jé‘)“—‘“ % —51%‘— e

Signature of Pe CODE ENFORCEMENT/POLICE OFFICER



BEFORE THE ALCOHOL CONTROL BOARD
CITY OF CARTERSVILLE

CARTERSVILLE ALCOHOL
CONTROL BOARD
VIOLATION HEARING NO: 21-015

CITY OF CARTERSVILLE, GEORGIA
Licensor,
v, HEARING DATE: 3/10/2021
MUHAMMAD SUHAIL CHISHTI.
Licensee.

Establishment: Short Trip-Easy Trip No. 2

Address: 165 Cassville Road
Cartersville, GA

Retail Package: Beer, Wine

Alcohol License Certificate Number:
1.L1.202002532

Bl St

ORDER
On March 10, 2021, the Cartersville Alcohol Board held a hearing on alleged violations of
the City of Cartersville Code of Ordinances, specifically Section 4-13 and Section 4-21 as stated
in the Notice Letter of February 22, 2021.

Neither the Licensee, nor anyone on his behalf. appeared before the Board for the current
charges of selling alcohol to a minor on January 27, 2021.

After hearing the evidence of the case, consideration. and on motion, the Board
unanimously finds the Licensee GUILTY of the charges of selling alcohol to a minor, and imposes
the following penalties:

I5 A fine in the amount of: $1.000.00: and
3. Three (3) years™ probation from March 10, 2021 through and including
March 11, 2024,

Short Trip-Easy Trip No. 2 — 165 Cassville Road- 3/10/2021 Hearing
Page |



Payment of the fine is to be made at the City of Cartersville Community Development Department
Office located at 10 North Public Square 2nd Floor, P.O. Box 1390 Cartersville Georgia 30120,
and is due by Wednesday, March 24, 2021, at 3:00 p.m.

Additionally, pursuant to the City of Cartersville Code Section 4-14(¢)(1)(2) and (3), the
Licensee has the right to appeal this Order to the Mayor and City Council. If no appeal is filed by
March 24, 2021, at 3:00 p.m., this Order becomes final. If an appeal is filed, the probation and
fine are staved until said appeal is heard.

Appeals shall be filed at the City Manager’s oflice by mail to: City of Cartersville, Attn:
Dan Porta, P.O. Box 1390, Cartersville. GA 30120,

BE IT AND IT IS ORDERED, as of this 10" day of March. 2021.

£IC NAFFS

Ric Napps. Chairman for the
Cartersville Alcohol Control Board

Short Trip-Easy Trip No. 2 — 165 Cassville Road- 3/10/2021 Hearing
Page 2



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
This is to certify | have this day caused to be served the above Licensee/Establishment via

hand delivery at the Establishment, and via certified mail return receipt requested, this 12" day of

March, 2021.
£ Keith Lovel!
E. Keith Lovell, Assistant City Attorney
City of Cartersville

P. O. Box 1024

Cartersville, Georgia 30120
(770) 386-1116

Short Trip-Easy Trip No. 2 - 165 Cassville Road- 3/10/2021 Hearing
Page 3



MINUTES OF THE
ALCOHOL CONTROL BOARD

The Alcohol Control Board met in a regular meeting on Wednesday, March 10, 2021 at
10:00 A.M. in the Council Chambers, 3™ Floor, City Hall.

CALL TO ORDER at 10:01 AM

ROLL CALL

Present: Rick Napps, Christine Brown, Jennifer Smith, Cortney Hultman, David Holt, Richard
Kollhoff

Absent: Dan Heilman

Staff Present: Randy Mannino, Julia Drake, and Keith Lovell

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

Approval of minutes of the February 10, 2021 meeting minutes.

Motion to approve the February 10, 2021 meeting minutes was made by Board Member
Hultman and seconded by Board Member Smith. Motion carried unanimously. Vote: 5-0.

TEXT AMENDMENTS
2. Amendment to Festival Zone Ordinance
Chairman Napps called for the next item.

Keith Lovell, Assistant City Attorney, gave an overview of the amendment stating this
amendment is to clarify the use of Downtown Entertainment Zone cups in the Festival Zone.

Motion to approve the amendment to the Festival Zone Ordinance was made by Board
Member Hultman and seconded by Board Member Holt. Motion carried unanimously. Vote: 5-0

NEW APPLICATION

3. Review of Beer/Wine Package Alcohol License by Tanveer Javed for Great Eastern
Company located at 2472 US-411. New Owner/Application.

Chairman Napps called for the next item.
Applicant was not present for the hearing and review of the new Alcohol Application.

Motion to table the application was made by Board Member Kollhoff and seconded by
Board Member Smith. Motion carried unanimously: 5-0.



4. Review of Pouring (Beer/Wine/Distilled Spirits/Sunday Sales) License Application
for Johnny Archer’s Place located at 138 Tennessee Street.

Chairman Napps called for the next item.

Mr. Johnny Archer came forward to represent the application and answer questions from
the Board. Board Member Hultman stated that the application was incomplete due to the
Affidavit not being completed and no lease agreement being included.

Motion to table the application until application can be completed was made by Board
Member Hultman and seconded by Board Member Holt. Motion carried unanimously: 5-0.

VIOLATIONS

Mr. Lovell stated the City of Cartersville Police Department conducted a sting operation;
this operation is still ongoing, 21 out of 53 establishments served to an undercover minor. This
includes 14 package and 7 pouring establishments. First time offenders were sent a notice that
included a prepared consent order pleading no contest, resulting in $1,000 fine, 3-year probation,
and waiving their right to an appeal. Each first-time offender was given the opportunity to submit
their signed consent order and fee to the City Clerk’s Office no later than Friday, March, 5™ at
4:30 P.M. The following establishments submitted their signed consent order and paid their
fines.

Jefferson’s located at 28 W, Main Street. Ate Track Bar & Grill located at 25 N. Wall
Street. Amerimart located at 1153 A Burnt Hickory Rd. Texaco located at 2472 Hwy 411. Circle
K located at 501 N. Tennessee Street. El Dorado located at 910 Joe Frank Harris Parkway.
Tarasco’s Tacos and Wings located at 1350 Joe Frank Harris Parkway Suite 115. Sunoco located
at 2471 Hwy 411. Sunaco Stop ‘n Shop located at 700 Joe Frank Harris Parkway. Travel Center
Shell located at 1340 E. Main Street. Cartersville Beverage located at 831 West Avenue.

Mr. Lovell recommended the Alcohol Control Board to accept the signed consent orders.

Motion to approve all listed signed consent orders was made by Board Member Holt and
seconded by Board Member Hultman. Motion carried unanimously. Vote: 5-0

Mr. Lovell proceeded by explaining that the remaining violators have the right to appeal
their case to City Council. Appeal must be made within 14 days; otherwise, the fine is due within
14 days. All violations go with the establishment.

5 Applebee’s: 185 Cherokee Place: 2" violation

Mr. Lovell gave an overview of the violation stating this is Applebee’s 2™ Violation.
Applebee’s is being charged with the following:

Section 4-13. — Licensees to keep copy of article on-premises; employees to be familiar
with terms; responsibility of licensee for violations, subject to $1,000 fine and 3-years’ probation



and Section 4-21. — Purchase by or sales to underaged persons subject to $1,000 fine and 3-
years’ probation.

Mr. Lovell sworn in Steven Gonzalez, representative for Applebee’s. Employee that sold
to underage person was also cited and will be heard before City Court.

Mr. Gonzalez stated he would like to plead guilty on both violations and stated that he,
nor Applebee’s, takes these violations lightly. Furthermore, he stated that the employee had been
terminated and the manager had been reprimanded.

Board Member Hultman made a motion to evoke a $2,000 fine, 30 day Alcohol License
suspension, and an additional 3 year probation, for a total of 5 years. Board Member Smith
seconded the motion. Motion carried unanimously. Vote: 5-0

Mr. Lovell stated the alcohol does not need to be removed from the premises; however,
signage must be posted stating “No Alcohol Sales for 30 Days™.

6. The Local Bar and Grill: 120 S. Erwin St.: 1* violation

Mr. Taff Wren, 128 W. Cherokee Ave, came forward as legal representation for The
Local Bar & Grill. Mr. Wren stated that as a Council Member for The City of Cartersville, he
will be recusing himself from all future hearings/appeals pertaining to this violation.

Board Member Kollhoff recuses himself as well.

Mr. Lovell gave an overview of the violation stating this is The Local Bar & Grill's first
violation. The Local Bar & Grill is being charged with the following:

Section 4-13. — Licensees to keep copy of article on-premises; employees to be familiar
with terms; responsibility of licensee for violations, subject to $1,000 fine and 3-years’ probation
and Section 4-21. — Purchase by or sales to underage persons subject to $1,000 fine and 3-years’
probation.

Mr. Wren stated that he wanted to please no contest to the charges and recommended the
Board give a warning to the establishment considering this is a first offense in 10+ years of
business. Furthermore, he stated that, from this point forward, all servers will be given a server
packet (see Exhibit M) to review and must sign an acknowledgement of said package. The server
that was charged with the violation has been terminated. Mr. Wren has provided The Local Bar
& Grill with a binder that included all of the alcohol ordinances and stated that all employees
have received the server packet. reviewed and signed the acknowledgment.

Board Member Brown inquired if proper training is supplied to all employees upon
employment to which Mr. Wren replied ‘only if they have no experience’. Board Member Brown
asked why everyone is not fully trained, despite their experience. Mr. Wren stated the manager
does assist those that are hired with experience to ensure rules are followed.



Motion was made to evoke $1,000 fine and 3 years™ probation by Board Member Holt
and seconded by Board Member Hultman. Motion carried unanimously. Vote: 4-0-1

7. The Page aka Corona’s: 212 Tennessee St.: 1% violation

Mr, Lovell sworn in William Watkins, co-owner of establishment. Mr. Lovell gave an
overview of the violation stating this is The Page aka Corona’s first violation. The Local Bar &
Grill is being charged with the following:

Section 4-13. — Licensees to keep copy of article on-premises; employees to be familiar
with terms; responsibility of licensee for violations, subject to $1,000 fine and 3-years’ probation
and Section 4-21. — Purchase by or sales to underage persons subject to $1,000 fine and 3-years’
probation.

Mr. Watkins stated that the employee that sold to underage person was also cited and will
be heard before City Court. Both the employee and manager was terminated. Two employees
were cited as one server took the order and the other server delivered the drink and cashed the
patron out. Only one server was terminated as the other employee was the owner’s wife. Mr.
Watkins continued to add that signage had been added stating “ID REQUIRED" and has also
hired staff to monitor the entrance and check identification prior to entrance into the
establishment.

Motion was made to evoke $1,000 fine and 3 years’ probation by Board Member
Kollhoff and seconded by Board Member Brown. Motion carried unanimously. Vote: 5-0

Mr. Watkins stated he is looking to sell the establishment to which Mr. Lovell explained
that the violation goes with the establishment.

8. El Nopal: 540 Old Mill Rd.: 1* violation

Neither the Licensee, nor representative of, appeared on behalf of El Nopal regarding the
following charges:

Section 4-13. — Licensees to keep copy of article on-premises; employees to be familiar
with terms; responsibility of licensee for violations, subject to $1,000 fine and 3-years’ probation
and Section 4-21. — Purchase by or sales to underaged persons subject to $1,000 fine and 3-
years’ probation.

After Mr. Lovell gave an overview of the violations and charges, a motion was made by
Board Member Holt and seconded by Board Member Smith to find the Licensee and
establishment guilty of the charges resulting in evoking $1,000 fine and 3 years’ probation.
Motion carried unanimously. Vote: 5-0



9. Short Trip-Easy Trip No.2: 165 Cassville Rd.: 1* violation

Neither the Licensee, nor representative of, appeared on behalf of Short Trip-Easy Trip
No.2 regarding the following charges:

Section 4-13. — Licensees to keep copy of article on-premises; employees to be familiar
with terms; responsibility of licensee for violations, subject to $1,000 fine and 3-years’ probation
and Section 4-21. — Purchase by or sales to underaged persons subject to $1,000 fine and 3-
years’ probation.

After Mr. Lovell gave an overview of the violations and charges, a motion was made by
Board Member Holt and seconded by Board Member Kollhoff to find the Licensee and
establishment guilty of the charges resulting in evoking $1,000 fine and 3 years’ probation.
Motion carried unanimously. Vote: 5-0

Board Member Holt leaves Council Chambers.

A motion was made to remove new Alcohol Application for Great Eastern Company
from the table. Motion was made by Board Member Kollhoff and seconded by Board Member
Smith. Motion carried unanimously. Vote: 4-0

10.  Review of Beer/Wine Package Alcohol License by Tanveer Javed for Great Eastern
Company located at 2472 US-411. New Owner/Application.

Mr. and Mrs. Javed came forward to speak for their application. Board Member Hultman
explained that this establishment is currently under violation and has a 3 year probation. Mr. and
Mrs. Javed stated that they were made aware of the violation by the current owner and understands
the probation term.

A motion was made to approve the Package Beer/Wine Alcohol License for Great Eastern
Company by Board Member Kollhoff and seconded by Board Member Brown. Motion carried
unanimously. Vote: 4-0

Board Member Holt returns to the Council Chambers.
11.  ABC Liquor: 330 Cherokee Place: 1*' Violation

Mr. Lovell sworn in Kenny Shah, license holder for the establishment. Mr. Lovell gave
an overview of the violation stating this is ABC Liquor’s first violation. ABC Liquor is being
charged with the following:

Section 4-13. — Licensees to keep copy of article on-premises; employees to be familiar
with terms; responsibility of licensee for violations, subject to $1,000 fine and 3-years’ probation
and Section 4-21. — Purchase by or sales to underaged persons subject to $1,000 fine and 3-
years’ probation.



Kenny Shah came forward and stated he would like to plead guilty to all charges. He
stated it was his father who sold to an underage patron and had previously been skipping the
identification check. However, Mr. Shah has installed a program onto the cash register that now
requires the date of birth to be entered into the register prior to any sale being completed.

Officer Ashley Payne was asked to come forward and sworn in by Mr. Lovell. The video
was played that reflected the vertical (Under 21) identification was shown and the sale still
commenced.

A motion was made to evoke $1,000 fine and 3 years’ probation by Board Member
Kollhoff and seconded by Board Member Holt. Motion carried unanimously. Vote: 5-0

12. IMP Fuel/Gas N Go: 301 S. Erwin St.: 1* Violation

Mr. Lovell sworn in Chetan Patel, license holder for the establishment. Mr. Lovell
gave an overview of the violation stating this is IMP Fuel/Gas N Go’s first violation. IMP
Fuel/Gas N Go is being charged with the following:

Section 4-13. — Licensees to keep copy of article on-premises; employees to be familiar
with terms; responsibility of licensee for violations, subject to $1,000 fine and 3-years’ probation
and Section 4-21. — Purchase by or sales to underaged persons subject to $1,000 fine and 3-
years’ probation.

Mr. Patel came forward and stated he would like to plead guilty to the charges and stated
he had worked very long hours and was very exhausted which led to not asking for proper
identification.

A motion was made to evoke $1,000 fine and 3 years’ probation by Board Member Holt
and seconded by Board Member Kollhoff. Motion carried unanimously. Vote: 5-0

13. BP Foodmart: 263 Cassville Rd.: 1* Violation

Mr. Lovell sworn in Sanjaykumar Rameshbhai Patel, license holder for the
establishment. Mr. Lovell gave an overview of the violation stating this is BP Foodmart’s first
violation. BP Foodmart is being charged with the following:

Section 4-13. — Licensees to keep copy of article on-premises; employees to be familiar
with terms; responsibility of licensee for violations, subject to $1,000 fine and 3-years’ probation
and Section 4-21. — Purchase by or sales to underaged persons subject to $1.000 fine and 3-
years” probation.

Mr. Patel came forward and stated he would like to plead guilty to the charges.

A motion was made to evoke $1,000 fine and 3 years’ probation by Board Member Holt
and seconded by Board Member Smith. Motion carried unanimously. Vote: 5-0



Mr. Lovell stated that two cases have sought legal counsel and have requested an
extension due to conflict of scheduling. These two cases will be heard at a Special Called
Alcohol Control Board Meeting scheduled for Wednesday, March 24, 2021 at 10:00 A.M. at
City Hall, 3™ Floor, Council Chambers. These two cases are Citgo Express located at 1144 N.
Tennessee Street and Mack’s Marathon located at 1139 N. Tennessee Street.

Frank McCann, Chief of Police, came forward to give accolades to the individuals that
organized and executed this successful sting operation.

Board Member Hultman suggested to require servers licensing for retail establishments
that serve alcohol. Mr. Lovell stated it is possible and that is something that can be looked at
further.

Board Member Holt asked about training provided by the City for servers prior to
obtaining their servers license. Chief McCann stated he would look into an automated testing
program. It was also suggested by Board Member Hultman to require the ServSafe certificate
prior to obtaining servers license as a viable option as well.

Mr. Lovell called Randy Mannino, Planning and Development Director, up to inquire
about JZ’s Taste of Georgia having a Sunday Sales license despite the fact that they do not meet
the local or state requirements. Julia Drake, City Clerk, stated that they do currently hold a
Sunday Sales license. Mr. Lovell stated that the Sunday Sales portion of their alcohol license
must be revoked and a refund issued for the issuance of said license for 2021.

A motion was made to adjourn by Board Member Holt at 1 1:30 A.M. Board Member
Smith seconded the motion.

Meeting adjourned.

/s/
Date Approved Chairman

/s/
Secretary




ACB PACKAGE COVER PAGE

ACB CASE NO.: 21-015

ESTABLISHMENT: SHORT TRIP/ EASY TRIP NO. 2
ESTABLISHMENT ADDRESS: 165 CASSVILLE ROAD
LICENSEE: CHISHTI, Muhammad Suhail
HEARING DATE: MARCH 10, 2021

DOCUMENTS WITHIN PACKAGE:

Notice Letter with Plea Offer/Consent Order - Acknowledgment Copy
by Establishment

Alcohol License

Business License

Field Report

Investigative Summary

Receipt for Purchase

Citation to Employee



ARCHER & LOVELL, P.C.

ATTORNEYS AT LAW O R
102 LEAKE STREET ’NA L
P. O BOX 1024
CARTERSVILLE. GEORGIA 30120
David G. Archer Phone: (770) 386-1116
E. Keith Lovell Fax: (770) 382-7484

February 22, 2021

Muhammad Suhail Chishti VIA REGULAR MAIL AND VIA HAND DELIVERY TO THE
. : : ESTABLISHMENT LOCATION IN CARTERSVILLE,
Easy Trip No2-Short Trip GEORGIA

165 Cassville Road
Cartersville, GA 30120

IN RE: NOTICE OF SUSPENSION, PROBATION, FINE AND/OR REVOCATION
HEARING BEFORE THE CARTERSVILLE ALCOHOL CONTROL
BOARD ON MARCH 10,2021 AT 10:00 AM
Alcohol License Certificate Number: L1.202002532
Customer Number: LCB201700481
License Type: Retail Package: Beer, Wine
License Holder: Muhammad Suhail Chrishti
Establishment: Short Trip, 165 Cassville Road

Dear Mr. Chishti:

You are hereby notified by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Cartersville, Georgia,
that Lawanda Jane Ochoa, an employee of Easy Trip No2-Short Trip was charged and issued a
citation for selling alcohol to minors on January 27, 2021. Lawanda Jane Ochoa is scheduled for
trial on July 12, 2021, at 3:00 pm in the City of Cartersville Municipal Court for the citation of
selling to minors.

Selling alcohol to minors is a violation of the City of Cartersville Code of Ordinance
Section 4-21. It is also a violation by the license holder, pursuant to Sec. 4-13 of the City of
Cartersville Code of Ordinances. The Alcohol Control Board of the City of Cartersville has
scheduled a hearing to determine whether or not your City of Cartersville Alcohol License should
be fined, suspended, revoked, placed on probation and/or any combination thereof pursuant to City
of Cartersville Code of Ordinances Sections 4-203 and 4-209.

You and/or your employee have been charged with two (2) violations of the City of
Cartersville Alcohol Ordinance, specifically, Sections 4-13 and 4-21 of the City of Cartersville
Code of Ordinances. You, as the license holder, are subject to a fine of up to $1,000.00 on each
violation, and up to three (3) years’ probation on each violation for a total of $2,000.00 and/or 6
years' probation. Additionally, the Alcohol Control Board reserves the right to suspend and/or
revoke your license(s) for each violation.

Please be advised that if found guilty of the alleged violations, you have the right to appeal
pursuant to the requirements of City of Cartersville Code of Ordinances Section 4-209(e)(1), (2)
and (3).



Easy Trip No2-Short Trip

February 22, 201

Notice of Hearing — Alcohol Control Board
Establishment: Short Trip, 165 Cassville Road
Page 2

You are hereby ordered to be and appear at said Alcohol Control Board hearing at
10:00 am on March 10, 2021, at the City Council Chambers, Third Floor, City Hall,
Cartersville, Georgia, to show cause why your license should not be suspended, probated,
revoked and/or a fine imposed. You have the right to plead guilty, not guilty, or no contest to
the charges. Grounds for this hearing is that your establishment violated Sections 4-13 and 4-21

of the City of Cartersville Code of Ordinances.

INLIEU OF A HEARING, THE ALCOHOL CONTROL BOARD HAS AUTHORIZED
A PLEA AGREEMENT WITH YOU, SINCE THIS IS YOUR FIRST VIOLATION, UPON
THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS: YOU ENTER A PLEA OF “NO-CONTEST,” PAY A
FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,000.00, AND THREE (3) YEARS' PROBATION. IF YOU
WISH TO ACCEPT THIS PLEA AGREEMENT, THE ATTACHED ORDER MUST BE
SIGNED, AND PAYMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,000.00 MUST BE DELIVERED TO:

ALCOHOL LICENSING CLERK

OFFICE OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT
CITY HALL - 2" FLOOR

10 NORTH PUBLIC SQUARE
CARTERSVILLE, GA 30120

OR VIA MAIL TO:

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

PO BOX 1390
CARTERSVILLE, GA 30120

SAID PAYMENT AND SIGNED ORDER MUST BE RECEIVED BY FRIDAY,
MARCH 5, 2021, NO LATER THAN 4:30 PM. IF SAID ORDER AND PAYMENT IS NOT
RECEIVED BY SAID DATE AND TIME, THE PLEA OFFER IS WITHDRAWN, AND THE
HEARING SHALL BE HELD AS STATED ABOVE ON MARCH 10, 2021, 10:00 AM.

This hearing does not concern any other licenses which are held by the license holder. This
letter is being sent pursuant to the requirement of the City of Cartersville Code of Ordinance
Section 4-209(e).

Additionally, you have the right to be represented by counsel and to all subpoena powers
which are available to the Alcohol Control Board at said hearing.



Easy Trip No2-Short Trip

February 22, 201

Notice of Hearing — Alcohol Control Board
Establishment: Short Trip, 165 Cassville Road
Page 3

This 22™ day of February, 2021.
Very truly yours,

ARCHER & LOVELL, P.C.
Z.L,- /{:’M?f 4 LovelV

E. Keith Lovell
Assistant Attorney for the City of Cartersville

EKL/sIf

cc: City Manager, City of Cartersville
Planning and Development Director, City of Cartersville
Chief of Police, City of Cartersville
City Clerk, City of Cartersville

Enclosure

This  letter was served upon 1 at

(b5 (Assrttlo onthe 2% day of FeB , 2021 by the

umlumymd Police Of f' t.er/Codc Enforcement Officer and service is hereby acknowledged

o ’5/%?-4 e

Signatur® of Person Served RCEMENT OFFICER




BEFORE THE ALCOHOL CONTROL BOARD
CITY OF CARTERSVILLE

CITY OF CARTERSVILLE, GEORGIA ) CARTERSVILLE ALCOHOL
) CONTROL BOARD
Licensor, ) VIOLATION HEARING NO: 21-

V.

MUHAMMAD SUHAIL CHISHTI,
Licensee.

Establishment:

SHORT TRIP

165 CASSVILLE ROAD

CARTERSVILLE, GA

Alcohol License Certificate No:
LL202002532

B . S

CONSENT JUDGMENT AND ORDER

On January 27, 2021, License Holder committed a violation of the City of Cartersville
Code of Ordinances, specifically Section 4-21 as stated in the Notice Letter of February 22, 2021.

The Licensee consents to the jurisdiction of the Alcohol Control Board in this matter. As
this is a first offense, the Alcohol Control Board has offered a plea deal to the Licensee of a fine
in the amount of $1,000.00 and three (3) years' probation. Licensee has reviewed this plea
individually and/or with legal counsel of their choosing, and hereby consents to said Judgment.

This Plea Offer is only valid until March 5, 2021. If received after March 5, 2021, 4:30
p.m., said Plea Offer is NULL AND VOID.

In lieu of a hearing, the Licensee enters a plea of NO CONTEST to the violations of City
of Cartersville Code of Ordinances 4-21 and the Board accepts the Licensee’s plea of no contest
and imposes the following penalties:

) A fine in the amount of: $1,000.00 per violation; and



Consent Judgment and Order

Muhammad Suhail Chishti

Establishment: Short Trip, 165 Cassville Road
Page 2

2) Probation for three (3) years to begin on March 3, 2021 and ending March 4, 2024,
Licensee agrees to accepi the plea deal and waives the right to appeal to the Mayor and
City Council,

Payment of the fine and presentation of the signed Plea Deal is to be made at the City of
Cartersville, Community Development Department Office, located at 10 North Public Square, 2nd
Floor, P.O. Box 1390 Cartersville Georgia 30120, and is due by Friday, March 5, 2021, no later
than 4:30 p.m.

BE IT AND IT IS ORDERED, this 10" day of March, 2021.

CONSENTED TO BY AND PREPARED BY:

E. Keith Lovell
Assistant City Attorney
City of Cartersville
Georgia Bar No. 459390
Archer & Lovell PC

PO Box 1024
Cartersville, GA 30120

LICENSEE HAS READ, UNDERSTANDS, CONSENTS AND AGREES TO THIS CONSENT
JUDGMENT AND ORDER, AND HAS SIGNED THIS CONSENT JUDGMENT AND ORDER
THIS DAY OF , 2021,

MUHAMMAD SUHAIL CHISHTI

OR AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

Print Name of Authorized Representative if not Licensee
Signing:

Title/Position of Person Signing if not Licensee: L



Consent Judgment and Order
«License_Holder»
Establishment: «Establishment»
Page 3

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This is to certify | have this day served the above Licensee, or counsel of record, via mail
to the address listed on Licensee’s Alcohol License, with a copy of the within and foregoing

Consent Judgment and Order, this 10" day of March, 2021.

£ fKeith LovelV

E. Keith Lovell, Assistant City Attorney
City of Cartersville

PO Box 1024
Cartersville, Georgia 30120
(770) 386-1116



Alcohol Licenge
City of Carterghille, Georgia

Business Mailing Address:
MUHAMMAD SUHAIL CHISHTI
EASY TRIP NO2 INC Certificate Number
165 CASSVILLE RD A LL202002532
CARTERSVILLE, GA 30120

Business Address 165 CASSVILLE RD

Alcohol License Type Retail Package: Beer, Wine

Business Type 447110 - Gasoline Stations with Convenience
Stores
722410 - Alcoholic Beverages

Customer Number LCB201700481

Certificate Issued to EASY TRIP NO2 INC

Certificate Amount $ 900.00

Expiration Date 12/31/2021

ot Mo

Director of Planning and Development

Date Issued: December 28, 2020

DISPLAY IN A CONSPICUOUS PLACE. MAY BE
REVOKED FOR CAUSE




Occupational Tax Certificate
City of Cartersbille, Georgia

Business Mailing Address:

MUHAMMAD SUHAIL CHISHTI
EASY TRIP NO2 INC

165 CASSVILLE RD A
CARTERSVILLE, GA 30120

Business Address:

Business Type:

Customer Number:
Certificate Issued To:

Certificate Amount:
Expiration Date:

Date Issued: December 28, 2020

Certificate Number
0001202001165

165 CASSVILLE RD

447110 - Gasoline Stations with
Convenience Stores 722410 - Alcoholic

Beverages
LCB201700481

EASY TRIP NO2 INC

180.00
12/31/2021

oy Mlonen

Director of Planning and Development

DISPLAY IN A CONSPICUOUS PLACE. MAY BE
REVOKED FOR CAUSE

MISCO0000888315




CARTERSVILLE POLICE DEPARTMENT
FIELD CASE REPORT css22 2021-00001500
REPORTED DATETME OCCURRED NCDENT TYPE
E 01/27/2021 17:26 Traffic/City
W] [occuRRED FROM DaTETME DCCURRED THRY DATE/TME LOCATON OF CCOVRRENCE BROM Trip
Clot2712021 17:26  |onr27i2021 17:41  |SSCASSVILLE RO SE
ETATUTEDESCRFTION COUNTS ATTEMPT/ICDMMIT
01| B imiians iy o aalai n undistaget ptacina 2 ] eomgiec
:
ra
™
o
JACRETGUBIECT TP MAME (LAFY, FIRIT, MDCLE BUFPX
Adult Suspect OCHOA LAWANDA JANE
[ CoB AGE or AGE RANGE ADDRESS (STREET. CMTY _STATE 2F
& |09/25/1988 32 376 OLD MILL RD SE 34 CARTERSVILLE, GA 30120
RACE SEX HEIGHT & RANGE WEIGHT or RANGE HAR EYE
% White Female 58 58 200 200 |Brown Brown
DL NUMBER/STATE PREAR PrOKE PECHE &7 ERONE 81
053257989/ GA (770)873-5410
JACKETAUBIECT TV oL RAME [LAST FRST UDDLE SUPF)
Business Victim CITY OF CARTERSVILLE,
= [o08 AGE or AGE RANDE A0CRESS (STREET, CITv_ STATE 29)
2 1 N ERWIN ST SE CARTERSVILLE GA 30120
B RACE LT HEGHT &r RANGE VEQHT &¢ BANGE HAR EYE
=
w
CL NUMBER/STATE BRALARY PreONE BHONE 87 FHONE 31
JACKET/SUBJECT TV FE NAME (LAST FRET, UGCLE SWPPL)
Officer Complainant REED, WM
= |oce AGE or 2GE RaNGE ADORESS (STREET, CITY, STATE 2
E 195 CASSV!LLE RD SE CARTERSVILLE GA 30120
@ RACE HEIGHT or SANGE Wi f BANGE =af EVE
w
TL NUMBERSTATE FRRLAR Y PROME BOHE 87 ErONE £
(770)382-2526
REPORTING OFFLER CATE REVEWED B CATE
117 Reed 01/27/2021 | Belcher, A.L. 01/28/2021
1 oF2

CPD Case 2021-00001500 Page 1 OF 2




CARTERSVILLE POLICE DEPARTMENT
FIELD CASE REPORT =2 2021-00001500

NARRATIVE

On Wednesday, January 27, 2021, at approximately 1726 hours, the Cartersville Police Department's
Criminal Investigation Division conducted alcohol license compliance checks at businesses within the City Of
Cartersville.

During the compliance checks, multiple businesses were checked for their compliance with the

regulations for identifying and selling alcohol to minors. During the compliance check, Lawanda Jane
Ochoa, was working as the clerk at the Short Trip, 165 Cassville Rd. Ms. Ochoa was observed selling alcohol
to an underage minor, even after checking the minor's ID. Ms. Ochoa was issued a misdemeanor citation
form for Sale of Alcohol to Minor, City Ordinance 4-21; citation # 2020-1500.

A copy of the citation was attached to the case file.

Nothing further.

REPORTRG OFFLCER DATE REVEWED B DaTE
117 Reed 01/27/2021 Belcher, A.L. 01/28/2021
2 OF2

CPD Case 2021-00001500 Page 2 OF 2



Criminal Investigation Division

Investigative Summary

Case Number : 2021-1500

Investigator : Reed, WM.
Date - 02/02/2021
Reference . Alcohol Purchase

On Thursday, January 27, 2021, Sgt. A.L. Belcher, Inv. A.D. Payne, and |, conducted
an alcohol license compliance check at Short Trip, 165 Cassville Rd, Cartersville, GA. The
compliance check was conducted utilizing Confidential Informant (Cl) #21-05 (an underage
cooperating citizen). Prior to the operation, the Cl and his/her vehicle were searched for
contraband, and none was located. The Cl was checked for personal money and found to
have none. The Cl was issued $10 of government funds and equipped with an audio/video
recording device. The C| was instructed to enter the business and attempt to purchase
alcohol.

At 05:26 P.M., the Cl entered the business and retrieved a Bud Light Mango-Rita
from the refrigerators. At 05:24 P.M., the CI placed the alcoholic beverage on the counter,
where the Cl provided a Georgia ID to the clerk, Lawanda Jane Ochoa. Ms. Ochoa looked at
the Cl's Georgia ID before accepting the Cl's money. The Cl paid $1.92 for the Bud Light
Mango-Rita and obtained a receipt. The CI left the business and met with Investigators at a
prearranged location. Physical and technical surveillance was maintained throughout the

entirety of the operation.



Sgt. Belcher, Inv. Payne, and |, made contact with Ms. Ochoa. Sgt. Belcher
explained the alcohol license compliance check and alcohol license regulations to Ms.
Ochoa.

Ms. Ochoa was issued a Misdemeanor Citation Form (#2021-1500) for City
Ordinance 4-21 Sale of Alcohol to a Minor.

| met with the Cl| and recovered the remaining government funds that he/she was
provided. | also recovered the audio/video recording device from the Cl. The video footage
was entered into evidence. The remaining government funds were turned over to Sgt.
Belcher at the conclusion of the operation.

This case is cleared by arrest.

Sighus2
@2 ng%

Reporting Investigator Signature / Date

_dD

SgPus1

Approving Supervisor Signature / Date
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STATE OF GEORGIA

UNIFORM CITATION, ACCUSATION & SUMMONS
GA0080100 NCIC NUMBER

O 27100 WUN-BER

2021-1500

e = : COURT COPY Pagetof2
{E:mur B 1 I [aGENGT S T [ amtooe [aoenzy NCinENT/ caSE Na
|
o i oeoeas CARTERSVILLE P.D. 2021-1500
| CACERSALLE LONAIT O CAUPTCsE hUvEEr |
L.Av o CTCLR oaie TaAN Thbie Wt AT
I TUESDAY JANUARY 27 |2021 1747
{Wﬂ'm TEANMOR UL TN
1350 JOE FRANK HARRIS PARKWAY o |TARASCCS N |
PEHSDN{S}
T |y NAUERRST) NAIAE (MWDDLE) | WANE ATV T | |EA*EGFERTHEAGE ]’JJ\: 3
Poc-oa ILA.WMJDA JANE 0325 1988 32 I I
lé ZTIN P.TALEOF Bt 'J'g-;.-zualtﬁ P ‘:?'Gﬂ?a;ib
z SCARBIMARLEITAT TDOS R T e e e mE— T ENOGRSFAIENTS
EEY Y et Fi e B T PARGLE
8 175 8LC AILL ROAD APT 34 CARTERSVILLE oA 320 oL
| = e Tueh o OF ARHEST - |
¢ 12021 [v.as GASS A..E ROAD J
; i JET CRBANT ELAIL Lgfi:; a7y J‘
VEMICLE(s) EuEE R il e e
[ TfAE T RED STATE  E~PIRATION Ivm = Ivi_':i-"_ ‘I WIRE & _Im TCOR
Gl 4GE(S) i3 L L S ——
N T YOaATOERe o ]
¥ = ;EORGIA CODE wus'r APPEAR BEFORE JUDGE ‘
Y sEnnon £ODE DESCRIPTION
A A SR e e e e e e i i e -
COUNTY ORDINANCE [] CITY ORDINANCE 1
CODE SESTN £CDE JESCRIPTION
4-21 SALES TO UNDERAGE PERSON |

et e e e 5 R, e, TS B % 1 S e g - - . e = - —

P NARRATIVE(S)

! Trre undersmr\ed certifies and swears (hat he/she has lual “and rcaaonanl- _lruuhdn to telieve that the above n:lmea Durem.fnﬂi ad Wmﬂ"l al the PBEH
and tine alorementicned, 1he above vidation(s) of lav.

i J

THORT NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION o '

!.‘?-‘.AID ACCUSED DID SELL A MANGO RITA (AN ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE) TO AN UNDERAGE |
|PER$ON.

| |

| |

| e s e e P R O ‘
J-t.l..-l,d_q NAME REED W M IFICER'S SIGNATURE ’
L,'.r.l..\_:\. 1 1? ORGANIZATION | UNIT CID i oot

COURT INFORMATION S
YO ARE HEREBY ORDERED 10 APPEAR BEFORE . REPORT TO THE
CARTERSVILLE MUNICIPAL COURT

178 WEST MAIN STREET
! CARTERSVILLE GEORGIA 30120

DEFENDANT SIGNATURE:

D

T DATE: 07!12!2021
pHone  (770)607-6307 court me: 0300 PM- |

2 answer to the azove charge. Your fallure to appear shall result in a warrant lasued for your arrest to be brought to court to answer Lhe chargs(s) I
|abave. By my signature, | authorize 1he court or & third party an thair bahalf lo send (ext messages or phone calls fc my eeil phone lo convey information |
regarding court appesrances. | understand thal standurd iext messoging rales will apply. | also understand that | may revcke this permission 10 wriding at any/

4::0¢ by filng a rolice to "opt-out” with the clerk, THIS SUMMONSICITATION IS 1ISSUED BY AUTHORITY OF THE LAWS QF THE STATE OF GEQRGIA, |

Varzon ©2.7 18



STATE OF GECRGIA

CITATION. ACCUSATION, & SUMMONS

GA 0080100  NCIC NUMBER

CITATION NUMBER COURT COPY

2021-1500
ARRESTING OFFICER CERTIFICATE
The undersigned being duly sworn upon his/her oath, deposes and states that s/he has just anc reascnable grounds to believe, and
does believe that the person named on the reverse side committed the offense therein set forth, contrary to the law.,

Sworn-ahd s‘u“bsd’:{lbed before me this _ Hl __day afﬂi\ ; 209 [ ;

Egﬁf Erkﬂl o G;u—_ Ofﬂcer Badge #

ires
My Commission Expire Febmnmaoﬁf " A {EICATE
INTHE COURTOF __

On behalt of the people of the State of Geargia, the undersigned, as prosecuting attorney for the city or county and state afaresaid,
does hereby charge and accuse the person named an the reverse side of this citation with the offense named on the reserve side of
this citation and that said offense was cammitted in the city/county and at the location named and at the time named an the

reverse side of this citation. This offense was committed contrary 1o the laws of this siate, the good order, peace and dignity
thereof.

DISTRICT ATTORNEY/SOLICITOR/PROSECUTING OFFICIAL

APPEARANCE, PLEA, AND WAIVER

L ___ havebeen advised that | am being charged with the offense named or the

reserve side of this citation and that the minimum punishment that | can recelve is _ _____months imprisonment
andforas - fine; and that the maximum punishment that | can receive is manths
mmprisonment and/ora $ fine. | have been advised of my rights to be represented by an attorney or that an

attorney will be provided for me if | am determined to be indigent; to plead not guilty and be tried by a judge or jury; to confront the
witnesses against me; and to not give incriminating evidence against myself. | hereby waive thase rights; state that | have not been
induced by any threat or promise to enter this plea, and de freely and veluntarily enter my plea,

This ___ dayof , 20

ACCUSED _
ATTORNEY _

fs Judge of the _COURT of __ , | have advised the above namec accused asincicated of
h's/her rights, the nature of the charge against him/her, anc possible censeguences of the plea as entered. | am satisfied that there
s a fFactual basis for the plea which the accused has entered and that it was entered freely and valuntarily with the nature of the
charge and the consesquences of the plea,

JUDGE _ i S
Il TEN
COURT: - ____COURTDATE: __ _ CASEM:
DEFENDANT PLEA: _ GUILTY [ JNOTGUITY  [C_JNOLO CONTENDERE [JINPERSON  [_]BYMAL
TrRIAL[__JIURY NON-JURY BENCH VERDICT: E«uim [ INGTGUILTY  ATTORNEY:
OTHER ACTION: [__JBOND FORFEITURE  [_INCL PROS NORECORD  [__JOEAD DOCKET [__] DISMISSED

[CJ1oFFeNDER  [__]CONDITIONAL DISCHARGE

SENTENCE: Fine/Fees - Probation _
CONDITIONS/OTHER: e Tl WS e P S &
JUDGE:

[Each agency should insert specific appearance instruction here and may include: methads for cantacting the
court, website information, map diagrams, any alternative dispute resolution which may be available, e-filing
options, or procedures for resalving court conflicts or sianing up for electronic notifications from the caurt.]



SVATE OF GeORGIA
CITATION, ACCUSATION, & SUMMONS
GADOBO10O  WNCIC NUMBER

CITATION NUMBER DEFENDANT COPY
2021-1500

ICET
if youdo

You have been served with a citation and summans. Signing the summons is ngt agreement with the charge
or the information contained on the front of this citation. Itis an agreement to appear at the time and place
shown on the summons. By signing the summons and providing your e-mail address and/or cellular phane
number, you agree that the court may use these, in addition to your address, to contact you. If you do nat
appear in court to answer the charge, a warrant will be issued for your arrest.

PECI NDITIONS
All charges require that you DO NOT VIOLATE THE LAW WHILE YOUR CASE IS BEING RESOLVED.

If you are charged with a violation of 0.C.G.A. § 16-7-21 (CRIMINAL TRESPASS); O.C.G.A. § 16-8-14 (THEFT BY
SHOPLIFTING); or 0.C.G.A. § 16-8-14.1 (REFUND FRAUD), the Court requires that you:
1) DO NOT RETURN TO THE LOCATION WHERE THE OFFENSE IS ALLEGED TO HAVE HAPPENED: &
2) DO NOT HAVE CONTACT WITH ANY VICTIM(S) OR WITNESS(ES) NAMED IN THE CITATION;
These conditions remain in place until the Court modifies the conditions of your release or your charges are

disposed of.

!"you are to be releasad, any additional Bond Procedures will be explained to you,

WAIVER AND PLEA OF GUILTY FOR CHARGES NOT REQUIRING A COURT APPEARANCE
[DOES NOT APPLY IF “MUST APPEAR BEFORE JUDGE"” BOX ON REVERSE SIDE IS CHECKED]

|, the undersigned, do hereby enter my written, rather than personal appearance In the court case resulting
from the charge on the reverse side of this citation. | understand that by paying my fine and not personally
appearing before the court | am waiving any right that | might have had to a trial by judge or jury and to be
represented by counsel. | further understand that by paying the fine, | have pled guilty to the offense as
charged. | further agree to mail this waiver and plea to the address shown below or to deliver it in person to
the court. This waiver will not be accepted for any charge requiring a court appearance hefore a judge.

SIGNATURE OF ACCUSED _ . DATE
SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY BAR NO

HOW TO CONTACT THE COURT
Reguests to continue a case or change a court date must be in writing only, received prior to the court date,
and approved by the court. You CANNOT be imprisoned solely for inability to pay a fine, but you MAY face
imprisonment for failing to appear at o scheduled court date.

[Each agency should insert specific appearance instruction here and may include: methods for
contacting the court, website information, map diagrams, any alternative dispute resolution which
may be available, e-filing options, or procecures for resolving court conflicts or signing up for
electronic notifications from the court.]

Vargsas =t F o0



2. APPEAL OF ALCOHOL CONTROL BOARD
ORDER



City Manager
City of Cartersville, Georgia
ATTN: Mr. Dan Porta

Dear Mr. Porta,

| hope this letter finds you well. | am writing to respectfully submit an appeal regarding my
absence from the Alcohol Control Board meeting held on January 14, 2026, concerning
Violation Hearing No. 2026-009 for Alcohol License No. LL202402568, issued to Easy
Trip No 3 LLC, located at 1204 West Ave, Cartersville, GA.

Unfortunately, | was unable to attend the scheduled hearing due to an unexpected and
severe shortage of staff at my convenience store on that day. As the owner, |was
required to remain on-site to ensure the business could continue operating safely and
legally. | sincerely regret missing the meeting and respectfully apologize forany
inconvenience my absence may have caused.

The violations cited under Section 4-13 and Section 4-21 were the result of actions taken
by my employee, not myself personally. While | fully accept responsibility as the license
holder, | would greatly appreciate the opportunity to personally appear before the
Alcohol Control Board to explain the circumstances surrounding the violation, the
corrective actions | have already taken, and the additional measures | have implemented
to ensure full compliance moving forward.

| am committed to operating my business in strict accordance with all city and state
alcohol regulations. | respectfully request that the Board consider granting me a new
hearing date so that | may present my case in person. | also humbly ask the Board to
consider reducing or forgiving the imposed fine and probation period, based on my
compliance efforts and commitment to preventing any future violations.

Thank you very much for your time, understanding, and consideration. | appreciate the
opportunity to address this matter and look forward to cooperating fully with the City of
Cartersville and the Alcohol Control Board.

Respectfully,
Suhail Chishti

Owner



EasyTrip No 3LLC
1204 West Ave

Cartersville, GA



3. ORDER OF ALCOHOL CONTROL BOARD



BEFORE THE ALCOHOL CONTROL BOARD
CITY OF CARTERSVILLE

CITY OF CARTERSVILLE, GEORGIA ) CARTERSVILLE ALCOHOL
)y CONTROL BOARD
Licensor, ) VIOLATION HEARING NO: 2026-009
)
Vi )
)
EASY TRIP NO. 3 LLC )
)
l.icensee. )
)
Establishment: Citgo )
Address: 1204 West Ave )
)
Alcohol License No: 1L.L202402568 )

ORDER
On January 14. 2026. the Cartersville Alcohol Board held a hearing on alleged violations
of'the City of Cartersville Code of Ordinances. specifically Section 4-13 and Section 4-21 as stated
in the Notice Letter of December 15, 2025,
No representatives from the establishment appeared.  Testimony was provided by
Stacey L. Forristall. Paralegal for E. Keith Lovell. City Atorney. regarding the notice letter to the
establishment and service of the notice letter by City of Cartersville Code Enforcement.

After consideration. and on motion. the Board imposed the following penalties:

Fines in the amount of $1,000.00 for each violation, said violations being
City of Cartersville Code Sections 4-13 and 4-21. totaling $2.000.00: and

2 Three (3) vears™ probation for each violation. said total probation being six
(6) vears beginning January 29. 2026. through and including January 29. 2032:and

If no appeal is filed. this Order becomes final and payment is due no later than January 28,

2026. at 3:00 p.m. Payments should be made to the City of Cartersville, and hand delivered to the

Easy Trip No. 3 — Citgo — 1204 West Avenue — 1/14/2026 Hearing
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City Clerk. City Hall. 2™ Floor. 10 North Public Square. Cartersville. GA 30120 or mailed to the

City Clerk. City Hall. PO Box 1390, Cartersville. GA 30120.

Appeals may be filed pursuant to the City of Cartersville Code Section 4-14(e)(1)(2) and
(3). The Licensee has the right 1o appeal this Order to the Mayor and City Council no later than
January 28. 2026. at 3:00 p.m. If an appeal is filed any revocation is stayed until said appeal is
heard. Appeals shall be filed at the City Manager’s office by mail to: City of Cartersville, Aun:
Dan Porta, P.O. Box 1390, Cartersville. GA 30120, or may be hand delivered to 1 N. Erwin Street,
Cartersville, GA 30120.

BE IT AND IT IS ORDERED. as of this 14" day of January. 2026.

Ric Napps. Chairman for the
Cartersville Alcohol Control Board

RETURN OF SERVICE
This Order was served upon l:ﬂ:LL*‘\A.J L \.T_f‘ Y - at 1204 West
Avenue. Cartersville, Georgia on the /<7 day of January. 2026. by the undersigned City of
Cartersville Code Enforcement Officer and service is hereby acknowledged.

oy ;A
<'_;//!{ 1/,"1 ‘f'( /}7#?/( . i . 4_ .// MJ

— — £ .:/f = —
Signature of Person Served CODE ENFORCEMENT (’?l-’l-‘l('{fi /
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4. MINUTES OF THE ALCOHOL CONTROL
BOARD - 1/14/2026 (DRAFT)



MINUTES OF THE
ALCOHOL CONTROL BOARD

The Alcohol Control Board met in a Regular Called meeting on Wednesday, January 14, 2026, at
10:00 A.M. in the Council Chambers, 3" Floor, City Hall.

CALL TO ORDER at 10:04 AM

ROLL CALL

Present: Ric Napps, Dan Heilman, Christine Brown, and Patti Rogers
Absent: Richard Kollhoff, Matt Terry, and Melissa Bell

Staff Present: Julia Drake

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

December 10, 2025

Board Member Rogers made a motion to approve the meeting minutes from December 10, 2025, Board
Member Heilman seconded the motion. Motion carried unanimously. Vote: 4-0 with Chairman Napps
voting.

VIOLATIONS

Keith Lovell, City Attorney, informed the Board Members that in November 2025, the Cartersville Police
Department executed an undercover sting operation over a two (2) week period and fourteen (14)
establishments failed and sold alcohol to an underaged individual.

Continuing, Mr. Lovell stated that of these violations, several were first (1) offenses. First Offense
violators are given the option to plead guilty with a consent order and pay $1,000 fine and accept a 3-year
probation. The establishments that accepted this deal were:

Armando’s Italian Restaurant — 3 S. Dixie Ave.
Cartersville BBQ — 140 E. Felton Rd.

Hooters of Cartersville — 885 Joe Frank Harris Pkwy
Moore’s Market — 227 Fite St.

Olive Garden — 420 E. Church St.

Pa' La Sed Liquor Store — 948 N. Tennessee St.
Race Trac — 1328 E. Main St.

Tokyo Japanese Restaurant — 402 E. Church St.

Continuing, Mr. Lovell stated all establishments are charged with the following violations which could be
charged up to $1,000 and three-year probation per violation:

Section 4-13: Licensees to keep copy of article on premises; employees to be familiar with terms;
responsibility of licensee for violations:



Section 4-21: Purchase by or sales to underage persons.

Mr. Lovell further stated that he had spoken with each representative that was in attendance and they
would all be pleading no contest or guilty.

In closing, Mr. Lovell stated that item #3 — Bartow Food Mart and #4 — Blessed Beginings 2024 dba
Texaco would need to be moved to the end of the agenda.

Board Member Rogers made a motion to move items #3 and #4 to the end of the agenda. Board Member
Brown seconded the motion. Motion carried unanimously. Vote: 4-0

2. Aldi, Inc. Georgia #28

Mr. Lovell asked the representative to come forward for Aldi, Inc. Georgia #28 and explained that this is a
2" violation. However, due to the establishment not being on probation at the time of the offense, the
Board will need to treat this as a 1* offense.

Elizabeth Mahoney, Sard and Leff, and Morgan Welch, District Manager, came forward to represent the
establishment and stated they would like to plea no contest.

Continuing, Ms. Mahoney stated the employee was a new hire and has not been terminated and reviewed
the extensive training program that Aldi, Inc. has in place and further stated that since the violation, this
location has chosen to not accept vertical license at all. Additionally, all employees have been retrained
since the violation.

Board Member Heilman made a motion to impose a $1,000 fine and 3-year probation. Board Member
Brown seconded the motion. Motion carried unanimously. Vote: 4-0

3. Circle K #3683

Mr. Lovell asked the representative to come forward for Circle K #3683 and explained that this location
has had three (3) prior violations: 2013, 2021, and 2023. However, due to the establishment not being on
probation at the time of the offense, the Board will need to treat this as a 1* offense.

Stephanie Williams, District Manager of Circle K, and Wanda Lackey, new license holder, came forward
to represent the violation and were sworn in by Mr. Lovell.

Ms. Williams stated that Circle K has zero tolerance for selling to minors and the employee was
terminated immediately. Since the violation, all employees have been retrained on procedures and
requirements, and the existing POS system is in the process of being updated to require the scanning of ID
prior to the sale being completed.

Board Member Rogers made a motion to impose a $1,000 fine and 3-year probation. Board Member
Heilman seconded the motion. Motion carried unanimously. Vote: 4-0

4. Easy Trip No.3



Mr. Lovell asked the representative to come forward. With no one in attendance, Mr. Lovell asked Stacey
Forristall to come forward.

Stacey Forristall, paralegal for Archer & Lovell, 102 Leake St., came forward and stated that the violation
letter was prepared and delivered to the establishment by City of Cartersville Code Enforcement. Said
letter was signed for on December 16, 2025.

Board Members discussed options with no representation from the establishment and decided to proceed
with the hearing.

Board Member Rogers made a motion to impose a $2,000 fine ($1,000 per violation) and 6-year probation
(3-year probation per violation). Board Member Heilman seconded the motion. Motion carried
unanimously. Vote: 4-0

. White G4, LLC dba Texaco

Mr. Lovell asked the representative to come forward for White G4, LLC dba Texaco and explained that
this location has had three (3) prior violations: 2021, 2023, and 2024. Additionally, this location is
currently on probation until 2030.

Raj Patel, license holder, came forward to represent the violation. Mr. Lovell swore in Mr. Patel.

Board Member Rogers suggested removing the option to manually enter the date of birth into the POS
System.

Board Member Heilman made a motion to impose a $2,000 fine ($1.000 per violation), 30-day
suspension, and an additional 3-year probation (3/5/2033). Board Member Rogers seconded the motion.
Motion carried unanimously. Vote: 4-0

Bartow Food Mart

Mr. Lovell asked the representative to come forward for Bartow Food Mart and explained that this
location is currently on probation until 2028.

Minerva Blanchette, legal counsel, 107 Postelle Rd., and Mohammed Faisal, license holder, came forward
to represent the violation and were sworn in by Mr. Lovell.

Ms. Blanchette explained that the employee that was cited with the violation was Mr. Mohammed Aziz
and Mr. Aziz was filling in for another employee who was unable to attend their shift that day.
Continuing, Ms. Blanchette stated that the employee was reprimanded but was not terminated. The POS
System in use had been updated since the violation to require the scan of ID and eliminate the possibility
of manually entering the date of birth.

Chairman Napps requested to see the video.

Officer Andrew Gray came forward and was sworn in by Mr. Lovell. Officer Gray stated that he was the
officer on site during the violation and explained to the board what was happening as the video played,
including hearing the attendant ask the customer how old she was, to which the customer stated she was
21. No identification was requested.



Chairman Napps made a motion to impose a $2,000 fine with no added probation.
Without a second, the motion failed.
Discussion commenced among the board members.

Board Member Heilman made a motion to impose a $2,000 fine ($1,000 per violation) and an additional
1-year probation. Board Member Rogers seconded the motion. Motion carried unanimously. Vote: 4-0

Mr. Lovell stated that Blessed Beginings would not be heard and that further discussion would take place
at the end of the meeting.

NEW APPLICATIONS

7. 41 Korean BBQ
Mr. Lovell asked the representative to come forward for 41 Korean BBQ and explained that the Board
would be hearing the application for a new alcohol license but wanted to let the Board know that this
location was cited in September 2025 for having alcohol on premises. They were cited again in October

2025 and again in January 2026.

Eunae Kang, JS Law Group LLC., 3296 Summit Ridge Pkwy, Duluth and Gina Lee, owner/proposed
license holder, came forward to represent the application.

Ms. Kang explained that the person cited was not the owner, Ms. Lee.

However, after further discussion, it was determined that the person who was cited for the violation was a
partner/co-owner of the business.

Board Member Rogers stated that Ms. Lee had signed an affidavit with her Alcohol Application that stated
“I realize that the giving of false information on this application may lead to penalties including the

suspension or revocation of the license for which I am applying "

Board Member Rogers made a motion to deny the application. Board Member Heilman seconded the
motion. Motion carried unanimously. Vote 4-0

Mr. Lovell stated the Board had made their decision based on the falsification of the information provided
on the application. The applicant could reapply.

8. Shaaz Bouldercrest, LLC — Package: Beer/Wine

Shahzad Alwani, applicant, came forward to represent the application and to answer questions from the
Board Members.

Board Member Rogers made a motion to approve Shaaz Bouldercrest, LLC for Package: Beer/Wine.
Board Member Heilman seconded the motion. Motion carried unanimously. Vote: 4-0

9. Tandoori Table — Pouring: Beer/Wine
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1/14/2026
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CARTERSVILLE

ALCOHOL CONTROL BOARD MEETING
Council Chambers, Third Floor of City Hall
Wednesday, January 14, 2026 at 10:00 AM

AGENDA
BOARD MEMBERS: PLANNING DIRECTOR:
Ric Napps — Chairman Randy Mannino
Matt Terry
Richard Kollhoff CITY CLERK:
Christine Brown Julia Drake
Dan Heilman
Patti Rogers CITY ATTORNEY:
Melissa Bell Keith Lovell
CALL TO ORDER
ROLL CALL
APPROVAL OF MINUTES

December 10, 2025
VIOLATIONS

Aldi, Inc. Georgia #28

Bartow Food Mart

Blessed Beginings 2024 dba Texaco

Circle K #3683

Easy Trip No 3, LLC

White G4, LLC dba Texaco
NEW APPLICATION

41 Korean BBQ

Shaaz Bouldercrest, L.LC - Package: Beer/Wine




' Tandoori Table, LLC - Pouring: Beer/Wine/Distilled Spirits
OLD BUSINESS
The next meeting of the Alcohol Control Board will be Wednesday. February 11, 2026.
ADJOURNMENT

Persons with disabilities needing assistance to participate in any of these proceedings should contact the
human resources office, ADA coordinator, 48 hours in advance of the meeting at 770-387-5616.

P.O Box 1390 - 10 N. Public Square — Cartersville, Georgia 30120
Telephone: 770-387-5616 — Fax 770-386-5841 — v v v citvoleartersvilleory

1

ALCOHOL CONTROL BOARD MEETING - January 14, 2026
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BOARD - 1/14/2026
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ALCOHOL CONTROL BOARD
ITEM SUMMARY

Item 6.

_MEETING DATE:

| January 14,2026

SUBCATEGORY: Violations ) -
DEPARTMENT NAME: | City Clerk e —— )
AGENDA ITEM TITLE: | Easy Trip No 3, LLC e )
Easy Trip No 3, LLC located at 1204 West Ave was cited on November 18,
DEPARTMENT 2025, for selling alcohol to minors.
SUMMARY o
RECOMMENDATION: | Violation:
e Sec. 4-21: Selling alcohol to minors
e Sec. 4-13: Violation by the license holder
5-year Violation History:
e This is a first offense
LEGAL: N/A
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7. PACKAGE TO ALCOHOL CONTROL BOARD -
1/14/2026 HEARING EASY TRIP NO. 3



BEFORE THE ALCOHOL CONTROL BOARD
CITY OF CARTERSVILLE

CITY OF CARTERSVILLE, GEORGIA,

LICENSOR, VIOLATION HEARING NO: 2026-009

V.

LICENSEE.

)

)

)

)

)

)

EASY TRIPNO. 3 LLC, )
)

)

)
ESTABLISHMENT: CITGO )
)

)

ALCOHOL LICENSE NO: LL202402568

BOARD PACKAGE

Documents in Package:

» Notice Letter — Acknowledgment Copy signed by Establishment
* Alcohol License

¢ Business License

¢ Criminal Investigation Division Cover Sheet

* Arrest Sheet

e Field Report

e Photo of Purchase

¢ (itation to Employee

Item 6.
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Item 6.

ARCHER & LOVELL, P.C.

ATTORNEYS AT LAW

ARSI, 102 LEAKE STREET
P O BOX 1024
e — - CARTERSVILLE GEORGWA 30120
Dawvid G. Archer Phone (770) 385-1116
E Keith Lovell

December 15, 2025

VIAREGUIAR M UL AND LTV HANDDELIERY TO THE

Musammad Suhail Christi
. ESTABLISHMENT LOCATION INCARTERS WLLE, GEORGIA

Easy TripNo. 3 LLC
1204 West Ave
Cartersville GA 30120

INRE: NOTICE OF SUSPENSION, PROBATION, FINE AND/OR REVOCATION
HEARING
DATE OF HEARING: JANUARY 14, 2026
TIME OF HEARING: 10:00 AM
HEARING BOARD: CARTERSVILLE ALCOHOL CONTROL BOARD
LOCATION: CITY HALL, 10 N, PUBLIC SQUARE, 3*" FLOOR
Alcohol License Certificate Number: 11202402568
Customer Number: LCB2021801877
License Type: Retail Package: Beer & Wine
License Holder: Easy Trip No. 3 LLC
Establishment: Citgo

Ladies and Gentlemen,

You are hereby notified by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Cantersville, Georgia,
that Shakiva Nicole Pearson, an employee of Easy Trip No. 3 LLC was charged and issued a citation
tor selling alcohol to minors on November 17, 2025, Your employee has been assigned a court date
and must appear in the City of Cartersville Municipal Court for the ¢itation of selling to minors,

Selling alcohol to minors is a violation of the City of Cartersville Code of Ordinance Section
4-21. Itisalso a violation by the alcohol license holder, pursuant to Sec. 4-13 of the City of Cartersville
Code of Ordinances, and you are the alcohol license holder. The Alcohol Control Board of the City of
Cartersville has scheduled a hearing 10 determine whether or not your City of Cartersville Alcohol
License should be fined. suspended. revoked. placed on probation and/or any combination thereof
pursuant to City of Cartersville Code of Ordinances Sections 4-203 and 4-209,

You and/or your emplovee have been charged with two (2) violations of the City of Cartersville
Alcohol Ordinance. specifically, Sections 4-13and 4-21 of the City of Cartersville Code of Ordinances.
You. as the license holder. are subject to a fine of up to $1.000.00 on each violation, and up to three
(3) vears™ probation on each violation for a total of $2,000.00 and/or 6 yvears™ probation. Additionally,
the Alcohol Control Board reserves the right to suspend and/or revoke your license(s) for each
violation.

Please be advised that if found guilty of the alleged violations. you have the right 10 appeal
pursuant to the requirements of City of Cartersville Code of Ordinances Section 4-20%e)(1). (2) and
(3).

75




Easy TripNo. 3 11LC

December 15, 2025

Notice of Hearing - Alcohol Control Board
Establishment: Citgo

Page 2

YOU ARE HEREBY ORDERED TO BE AND APPEAR AT SAID ALCOHOL
CONTROL BOARD HEARING AT 10:00 AM ON JANUARY 14, 2026, AT CITY COUNCIL
CHAMBERS, THIRD FLOOR. CITY HALL, CARTERSVILLE, GEORGIA, TO SHOW
CAUSE WHY YOUR LICENSE SHOULD NOT BE SUSPENDED, PROBATED, REVOKED
AND/OR A FINE IMPOSED. You have the right to plead guilty, not guilty, or no contest to the
charges. Grounds for this hearing is that your establishment violted Sections 4-13 and 4-21 of the
City of Cartersville Code of Ordinances.

INLIEUOF AHEARING, THE ALCOHOL CONTROL BOARD HAS AUTHORIZED
A PLEA AGREEMENT WITH YOU, SINCE THIS IS YOUR FIRST VIOLATION, UPON
THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS: YOU ENTER A PLEA OF “NO-CONTEST,” PAY A
FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF S1000.00, AND THREE (3) YEARS' PROBATION. IF YOU
WISH TQ ACCEPT THIS PLEA AGREEMENT, THE ATTACHED ORDER MUST BE
SIGNED, AND PAYMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF §1,000.00 MUST BE DELIVERED T0O:

ALCOHOL LICENSING CLERK

OFFICE OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT
CITY HALL - 2™ FLOOR

10 NORTH PUBLIC SQUARE
CARTERSVILLE, GA 30120

OR VIA MAIL TO:

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT
PO BOX 1390
CARTERSVILLE, GA 30120

SAID PAYMENT AND SIGNED ORDER MUST BE RECEIVED BY WEDNESDAY,
JANUARY 7, 2026, NO LATER THAN 3:00 PM. 1F SAID ORDER AND PAYMENT IS NOT
RECEIVED BY SAID DATE AND TIME, THE PLEA OFFER IS WITHDRAWN, AND THE
HEARING SHALL BE HELD AS STATED ABOVE ON JANUARY 4, 2026, 10:00 AM.

This hearing does not concern any other licenses which are held by the license holder. This
letter is being sent pursuant to the requirement of the City of Cartersville Code of Ordinance Section
4-200(¢).

Itemn 6.
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ltern 6.

Fasy TripNo. 3 LLC

December 15, 2025

Notice of Hearing — Alcohol Control Board
Establishment: Citgo

PPage 3

Additionally, vou have the right to be represented by counsel and to all subpoena powers which
are available to the Alcohol Control Board at said hearing.

Very truly yours,
ARCHER & LoveLL, P.C.

L. Keith Lovell
City Attorney, City of Cantersyille

EKL/sIf

CC: City Manager. City of Cartersville
Planning and Development Director, City of Cartersville
Chief of Police. City of Cartersville
City Clerk, City of Cartersville

RETURN OF SERVICE

This letier \} served upon Si;ffl_‘ ‘{*’1 ‘}‘\Jt at
"z‘- . - (8}

1 the /d-' :lu\ of Civ_*c‘ 3 le 25y the

-

Person Served - POLICE OFFICER CODE ENFORCEMENT OFFICER

Signature ¢




BEFORE THE ALCOHOL CONTROL BOARD
CITY OF CARTERSVILLE

CITY OF CARTERSVILLE. GEORGIA.

LICENSOR. VIOLATION HEARING NO: 2026-009

i

LICENSEE.

)

)

)

)

)

)

EASY TRIP NO. 3 LLC, )
)

)

)
ESTABLISHMENT: CITGO )
)

)

ALCOHOL LICENSE NO: 112024023568

CONSENT JUDGMENT AND ORDER

On November 17, 2025, License Holder committed a violation of the City of Cantersville Code
of Ordinances. specifically Sections 4-13 and 4-21_ as stated in the Notice Letter dated December 15,
2025,

I'he Licensee consents to the jurisdiction of the Alcohol Control Board in this matter. As this
is a first offense in the past three vears. the Aleohol Control Board has oftered a plea deal 1o the
Licensee of a fine in the amount of $1.000.00 and three (3) years™ probation. Licensee has reviewed
this plea individually and/or with legal counsel of their choosing, and herebv consents 1o said
Judgment.

This Plea Offer is only valid until January 7, 2026. If reccived after January 7, 2026, 3:00 p.m..
said Plea Offer is null and void.

In lieu of a hearing, the Licensee pleads VO CONTEST 1o 1the violations of City of Cartersville
Code of Ordinances Sections 4-13 and 4-21, and the Board accepts the Licensee’s plea of no contest
and imposes the following penalties:

1 A total fine in the amount of: $1.000.00; and

2) Probation for three (3) years to begin on January 7. 2026 and end January 7. 2029,

Licensee agrees o accept the plea deal and waives the right to appeal to the Mayor and City

Council,

Payment of the fine and presentation of the signed Plea Deal 1s o be made at the Cuty of

Cartersville Community Development Departiment Office located at 10 North Public Square. 2nd

1
Consent Judgment and Order (1" offense  selling alcohol to minors)

Item 6.
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Item 6.

Floor, P.O. Box 1390 Cartersville Georgia 30120, and is due by Wednesday. Junuary 7. 2026, by 3:00

p.m.
BE I'T ANDIT IS ORDERED, as of January 7. 2026,

Ric Napps. Chairman for the
Cartersville Alcohal Control Board

Consent Judgment and Order Prepared by:

E. Keith Lovell

City Attorney

Georgia Bar No. 459390
Archer & Lovell PC

PO Box 1024
Cartersville, GA 30120

LICENSEE HAS READ. UNDERSTOOD. CONSENTS. AND AGREES 10 THIS CONSENI
JUDGMENT AND ORDER, AND HAS SIGNED THIS CONSENT JUDGMENT AND ORDER THIS
~ DAYOF .20
NAME OF LICENSEE: ACG & B, LLC

SIGNED BY AUTHORIZED REP:

PRINT NAMLE:

3

Consent Judgment and Order (17 offense - selling alcohol 10 minors) 79




Itern 6.

Alcohol License
City of Cartersv ille,
Georgia

Business Mailing Address:

MUHAMMAD SUHAIL CHISHTI
EASY TRIP NO 3 LLC Certificate Number

1204 WEST AVE LL202402568
CARTERSVILLE, GA 30120

Business Address 1204 WEST AVE

Alcohol License Type Retail PackageBeer, Wine

Business Type 447110 - Gasoline Stations with Convenience
Stores
722410 - Alcoholic Beverages

Customer Number LCB201801877

Certificate Issued to EASY TRIP NO. 3, LLC

Certificate Amount $ 900.00

Expiration Date 12/31/2025

farcly /o

Date Issued: December 26’ 2024 Director of Planning and Development

DISPLAY IN A CONSPICUOUS PLACE. MAY BE

REVOKED FORCALSE

80
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Item 6.

Occupational Tax
Certificate

City of Cartersv ille,
Georgia

Business Mailing Address:
MUHAMMAD SUHAIL CHISHTI
EASY TRIP NO 3 LLC Certificate Number

1204 WEST AVE 0001202401688
CARTERSVILLE, GA 30120

Business Address: 1204 WEST AVE

Business Type: 447110 - Gasoline Stations with
Convenience Stores 722410 - Alcoholic
Beverages
Customer Number: LCB201801877

Certificate Issued To: EASY TRIP NO. 3, LLC

Certificate Amount: 180.00
Expiration Date: 12/31/2025

g o

Director of Planning and Development

Date Issued: December 26, 2024

DISPLAY IN A CONSPICUOUS PLACE. MAY BE
REVOKED FOR CAUSE

MISC00000889315
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Cartersville Police

Department

Criminal Investigation Division

Case Number :  2025-00028013

Specific Offense : Purchase by or Sales to an underage person
Suspect : Shakiya Nicole Pearson

Victim :  City of Cartersville

Date of Offense : 11/17/2025

Date Case Opened . 11/17/2025

Investigator . S.R. Miller

Cleared by Arrest IZI Case Suspended D
Cleared Exceptionally D Case Unfounded I:l
SgPus1
1/252005 22208 pm

Approving Supervisor Signatu}'e'/ Date

Item 6.
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CARTERSVILLE POLICE DEPARTMENT

Item 6.

~+2025-00028013
ARREST INFORMATION SHEET
ERE ARSFETIO AT SCENE RESTHNG
* 11!1 7!2025 15:30 Summoned/Cited 1126 Mlllar
E L AY-CITGO
W 1204 WEST AVE
CARTERSVILLE, GA
ARRESTEE
Adl.llt PEARSON SHAKIYA NICOLE
w e AGE CITY, STATE IP
E 08!25!2003 22 370 OLD MILL RD 102 CARTERSVILLE GA 301 20
W = oE HAR [.f
E Black Fomale 5'3“ 223 Red Brown
Ol HUMBPRISTATE DRRLAR: BeOHE PHONE B2 DM B)
070053373 | GA (470)584-5961
CHARGES
01 4-21 1 | Completed
Purchase by or sales to underaged persons
w
w
o
[
S
o
NARRATIVE
SEE CASE NARRATIVE.
ADDITIONAL CHARGES and NARRATIVE MAY BE PRINTED ON FOLLOWING PAGES
REPOATING OFFICER DaTE REVEWED B DATE
1125 Miller 11/17/2025 | Albright, R.D. 11/25/2025
1 OF 1

CPD Arrest 202500028013 Page 1 01
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CARTERSVILLE POLICE DEPARTMENT

ltern 6.

FIELD CASE REPORT ~«= 2025-00028013
EE COEN o
- 11!1 mozs 15:30 TrafﬂchIty
i FROM DATE OCCURREL £ “URRINCE
G| 111712025 16:30 | 11/4772025 15:3 éﬂ’;,.‘é",fss\fw?_‘fg "
4-21
01| Purchase by or sales to underaged persons L Completed
W
w
W
=
w
&
(=]
Adult Suspect PEARSON SHAKIYA NICOLE
= AGE ot AGE RANGE N AT
o 03:2512003 22 370 OLD MILL RD 102 CARTERSVILLE, GA 30120
g [= AR Tt
| Black Female ‘sav 530 | 223 223 | Red Brown
070053373 / GA (470)534-5951
Businesu Victim crrv DF CARTERSVILLE
= AGE or AGE RANGE
o 10 N PUBLIC '$Q CARTERSVILLE, GA 30120
g Ra 5 WEGHT or BANGE ]
w
(770)387-5607
Dfﬂcer Complainant MILLER SR
’_ [ AGE or AGE RANGE ADORES STREET CITY STAT
o 195 CASSVILLE RD CARTERSVILLE, GA 30120
w
(770)382-2526
1125 Miller 111712025 | Albright, R.D. 11/25/2025
1 OFd

CPD Case 2025-00026013 Page 1 Of




CARTERSVILLE POLICE DEPARTMENT

ftemn 6.

FIELD CASE REPORT == 2025-00028013

NARRATIVE

On Monday, November 17, 2025, Investigators from the Cartersville Police Department’s Criminal
Investigations Division (CID) (Inv. Gray, Inv. Gregory, Inv. Guthridge, Inv. Walker, Inv. Miller, Sgt. Wilkey, and
Lt. Albright) conducted an alcohol license compliance check throughout the City of Cartersville. During
these compliance checks, one was conducted at the Short Way Citgo Gas Station (1204 West Avenue,
Cartersville, GA, 30120). The compliance check was conducted utilizing Confidential Informant (Cl) #25-010
(an underage cooperating citizen). The Cl was issued 520.00 in government funds and equipped with an
audio/video recording device. The Cl was instructed to enter the business and attempt to purchase alcohol
from the clerk.

Inv. Gray, Inv. Gregory and Lt. Albright conducted outside surveillance and security and monitored a live
feed of the incident. At 3:31 P.M.,, the Cl entered the business and purchased a Mike's Harder Pina Colada
Alcoholic Beverage. The store clerk, Shakiya Pearson, did not ask for the Cl’s identification card to check her
date of birth. Once the Cl received the beverage, they paid for the beverage and exited the business at 3:33
P.M. After the sale, the Cl met with investigators at a prearranged location. Physical and technical
surveillance was maintained throughout the operation.

Inv. Gray, Inv. Gregory and Lt. Albright met with the Cl to recover the change from the government funds
they were provided and retrieve the audio/video recording device. The video footage was uploaded to
Polaris, and the beverage was later placed into evidence at the Cartersville Police Department. After the
operation, Lieutenant Albright received the remaining government funds.

On Thursday, November 20, 2025, | met with the owner of the business and explained the alcohol license
compliance check and regulations to him. The business owner was also able to provide me with the
employee identification of Shakiya Pearson.

On Monday, November 24, 2025, | issued Ms. Pearson a Uniform Misdemeanor Citation (#2025-00028013)
for City Ordinance 4-21 Sale of Alcohol to a Minor. Ms. Pearson signed the citation and was provided a
copy. The audio and video recordings were uploaded to Polaris. The uniform misdemeanor citation was
added to the case file.

This case is cleared by arrest.

1125 Miller 11/17/2025 | Albright, R.D. 11/25/2025
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Item 6.

STATE OF GEORGIA
UNIFORM CITATION, ACCUSATION & SUMMONS

GA 0080100 NCIC NUMBER
CITATION NUMBER
2025-00028013 COURT COPY Page 10f 2
ét&.;(urm OF AGENCY LATITUDE AGENCY INCIDENT/ CASE NO
A
EITY o T APLCRRCET Cartersville Police Department 2025-00028013
CARTERSVILLE LONGITUDE COURT CASE NUMBER
[ORTOF WEER TOR T - 4 VEAR TTME OF LAT
MONDAY NOVEMBER 17 2025 15:30
[TOCATION UF ULCUORRENCE TOCATIGN DESCHIF 10N
1204 WEST AVENUE, CARTERSVILLE, GA, 30120 SHORT WAY-CITGO
PERSON(S)
NAME (FIRST] r NAME (MIDDLE) NAME LAST) 'I DATE OF BIRTH & AGE |Juv l I HGT |WGT |[HAIR [EYES
HAKIYA NICOLE PEARSON 0282003 22 B F |03 22 RED BROWN
OTN TLACE G BINTH OLN | 1D NUMBER SIAIE |ITPEOF U 0 EXFIRES
UNITED STATES 070053373 GA IL‘CEHSE 08/25/2033
SCANS/MARKSITATT00S S ENUORSEMENTS =
NONE
STHEE] Iy alAlE |£IF wLbe TION | BAR
370 CLD MILL ROAD, APT 102, CARTERSVILLE, GA, 30120 CARTERSVILLE lG.A |m|20 J_ﬁ':n
-rT
111 ?‘I';‘E,l;!' i 1204 WEST AVENUE, CARTERSVILLE, OA, 30120
DEFENDANT EMAIL '[ DEFENDANT CELL A |
470-584-5G61
VEHICLE(s)
rTAG ! REG STATE  EXPIRATION JVIN IYEAR lmml: MODEL / COLOR ]
CHARGE(S)
INVIOLATION OF VIOLATION LEVEL
P [7]GEORGIA CODE [#]MuST APPEAR BEFORE JUDGE
CODE SECTION CODE DESCRIPTION
4-21 PURCHASE BY OR SALES TO UNDERAGED PERSONS
ICLATION OF
COUNTY ORDINANCE CITY ORDINANCE
CODE SECTION CODE DESCRIPTION
P NARRATIVE(S)

The undersigned certifies and swears that he/she has just and reasonable grounds to believe thal the above named Defendant did commit, at the place

and time aforementioned. the above violation{s) of law. _
SHORT NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION

ON MONDAY, NOVEMBER 17, 2025, AT APPROXIMATELY 3:30 P.M., SAID ACCUSED DID SELL
AN ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE TO A MINOR DURING HER SHIFT AT 1204 WEST AVENUE,
CARTERSVILLE, GA, 30120 (SHORT WAY-CITGO).

SMle

aﬁ'féﬁﬂﬁz_"s_'ﬁ_ HELLER = OFFICER'S SIGNATURE
oho 1125 oraeanzaionunt CPD

COURT INFORMATION
YOU ARE HEREBY ORDERED TO APPEAR BEFORE / REPORT TO THE

Cartersville Municipal Court
10 N Public Square
Cartersville Georgia 30120 X Yol gzt
courT pATE: 02/02/2026
pHONE:  770-607-6307 courTTime: 1:00PMm

T answer to the above charge. Your failure to appear shall result in a warrant issued for your arrest to be broughl to court to answer the charge(s)
above. By my signature, | authorize the court or a third party on their behalf to send lext messages or phone calls to my cell phone to convey information

DEFENDANT SIGNATURE:

ragarding court appearances. | understand that standard text messaging rates will apply. | also understand that | may revoke this permission in writing at any
ime by filing a notice to “opt-oul” with the clerk. THIS SUMMONS/CITATION IS ISSUED BY AUTHORITY OF THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF GEORGHY
87
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lten 6.

STATE OF GEORGIA
CITATION, ACCUSATION, & SUMMONS
GA 0080100 NCIC NUMBER

CITATION NUMBER COURT COPY
20eR-0arEma aWWI!I17,,  ARRESTING OFFICER CERTIFICATE
The undersigned being duly s\“““’\ dport Bis tg-);@qth. deposes and states that s/he has just and reasonable grounds to believe, and
does believe that the pers@\na}ﬁea uﬂﬁk,f%gv?’@e’@de committed the offense therein set forth, contrary to the law
= ro &y "Rz

Sworn and subscribed befdre me%@%ﬂfﬁ , ‘day of NOVEMBER

i \ o L\ Og C!A : =

: A 025 3 AN AUl M
YBllc ..+ < Officer Badge #
U W G l‘%’ﬁ\* S
11, LOU\"PROSECUTING OFFICIAL CERTIFICATE

IN THE COURT OF

On behalf of the people of the State of Georgla, the undersigned, as prosecuting attorney for the city or county and state aforesaid,
does hereby charge and accuse the person named on the reverse side of this citation with the offense named on the reserve side of
this citation and that said offense was committed in the city/county and at the location named and at the time named on the
reverse side of this citation. This offense was committed contrary to the laws of this state, the good order, peace and dignity
thereof.

DISTRICT ATTORNEY/SOLICITOR/PROSECUTING OFFICIAL

APPEARANCE, PLEA, AND WAIVER
I, have been advised that | am being charged with the offense named on the

reserve side of this citation and that the minimum punishment that | can receive is months imprisonment
andfora$ fine; and that the maximum punishment that | can receive is months
imprisonment and/fora $ fine. | have been advised of my rights to be represented by an attorney or that an

attorney will be provided for me if | am determined to be indigent; to plead not guilty and be tried by a judge or jury; to confront the
witnesses against me; and to not give incriminating evidence against myself, | hereby waive these rights; state that | have not been
induced by any threat or promise to enter this plea, and do freely and voluntarily enter my plea.

This day of , 20

ACCUSED
ATTORNEY

As Judge of the COURT of , | have advised the above named accused as indicated of
his/her rights, the nature of the charge against him/her, and possible consequences of the plea as entered. | am satisfied that there
is a factual basis for the plea which the accused has entered and that it was entered freely and voluntarily with the nature of the
charge and the consequences of the plea.

JUDGE
DISPOSITION AND SENTENCE

COURT: COURT DATE: CASE #:

DEFENDANT PLEA: |E]Gmm [_Inort GuiLty NOLO CONTENDERE _ [_]IN PERSON [y maiL

TRIAL:_JJURY NON-JURY BENCH VERDICT: cuitty  [[_JNOTGUILTY ATTORNEY:

OTHERACTION: [___]BOND FORFEITURE [ INOLPROS [__|NORecoro  [__JoEAp cockeT [ DISMISSED
[]1"OFFENDER  [__|CONDITIONAL DISCHARGE

SENTENCE: Fine /Fee 5 Probation e
CONDITIONS/OTHER:
JUDGE:

[Each agency should insert specific appearance instruction here and may include: methods for contacting the
court, website information, map diagrams, any alternative dispute resolution which may be available, e-filing
options, or procedures for resolving court conflicts or signing up for electronic notifications from the court.]
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